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1.1. GEOGRAPHICAL CONTEXT
Romania is a country located in south-eastern Central Europe, in the northern part of the Balkan Peninsula. The southern
region is crossed by the lower stream of Danube river, and to the south-east it is bounded by the north-western shore of
the Black Sea. The surface of the Danube Delta is almost entirely located on its territory, as well as the southern and central
part of the Carpathians Mountains.
Romania is crossed by parallel of 45° north latitude, between approximately 43° north latitude to the south and 48° north
latitude to the north. The present territory is also called the Carpathian-Danube-Pontic area because Romania overlaps a
European territorial system, shaped by the form of the Romanian Carpathians and the surrounding regions imposed and
subordinated by the Carpathians, being bounded in the south by the Danube River and on the eastern part by the Black
Sea.
In terms of relief, Romania is characterised by a great diversity, with an approximately equal distribution of the main
landforms (31% mountains, 36% hills and plateaus and 33% plains)1.
Romania`s climate is temperate continental, with four seasons, and is marked by influences of the semi-arid climate in the
east, Adriatic in the south-west, oceanic in the west and north-west. These features provide the climate with a temperate
continental nature. Temperatures are between -5°C and 0°C in winter and between 24°C and 32°C in summer, with an
average rainfall of 640 mm.
Romania borders with Bulgaria to the south, Serbia to the south-west, Hungary to the north-west, Ukraine to the north
and east, Republic of Moldova to the east, and the Black Sea to the southeast.

þ

Other general data

Capital: Bucharest – the most important and most populated city of Romania, the political, administrative and economic
centre of the country
Main cities: Cluj-Napoca, Iași, Constanța, Timișoara, Craiova, Galați, Brașov, Ploiești, Brăila, Oradea, Bacău, Pitești, Arad and
Sibiu
Historical regions: Transylvania, Banat, Crișana, Bucovina, Moldova, Maramureș, Dobrogea, Muntenia, Oltenia
Population2: 20,121,641 inhabitants
Ethnic groups2: 88.9% – Romanians, 6.5% – Hungarians, 3.3% – Romani, 1.3% – others
Religion2: 86.5% – Orthodox, 4.6% – Roman Catholics, 3,2% – Protestants, 1.9% – Pentecostals, 3.8% – others
Official language2: Romanian language, native language for 91% of the country`s population. The main foreign languages
currently circulating in Romania are English, French and German.
National currency: Romanian Leu (RON) (plural Lei). The Leu`s subdivision is ban (plural bani), 1 Leu = 100 bani. There are
coins of 1, 5, 10 and 50 bani and banknotes of 1, 5, 10, 20, 50, 100, 200 and 500 Lei.

1 National Institute of Statistics (2022), Romanian Statistical Yearbook, Edition 2021.
2 According to the website https://www.recensamantromania.ro
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National day: December 1st. This day represents the anniversary of the Great Union in Alba Iulia in 1918, when the union
of Transylvania with Romania was voted, which marks the reunification of all Romanian territories in one state and the
completion of the unity of the Romanian nation state.
Official time: Eastern European Time (GMT + 2 hours)
Form of government: Republic
Status: NATO member, EU member
Legislative power: Romanian Parliament, consisting of two chambers: Senate and the Chamber of Deputies
Executive power: Romanian Government, Romanian President
Flag: Tricoloured flag with blue, yellow and red arranged in vertical stripes of equal size

1.2. ROLE IN THE REGION
Romania is located very close to the centre of the continent in the east-west direction. The distance from the centre is
only a few hundred kilometres east. On the other axis, Romania is located quite clearly towards the southern part of the
continent, as it is almost 1,000 km away from the centre. Therefore, Romania is a country located in the central-southeastern part of Europe. In these circumstances, it has a geostrategic position of increased importance as a result of the
recent developments in the region.
Since 2007, Romania is part of the European Union, which has benefited both parties.
In terms of geopolitical and geostrategic position, the current territory of Romania has been at the centre of interests
of some great powers since antiquity. In the Middle Ages, the Romanian territory has been at the intersection of three
empires – Ottoman, Habsburg (later the Austro-Hungarian Empire) and Tsarist, and after World War II entered under the
influence of USSR. Nowadays, Romania is located on the eastern border of the European Union and NATO, practically
representing a gateway to Europe from the Near and Middle East.
Romania is one of the largest countries in the area and is politically stable, being included in three main pan-European
transport corridors: corridor IV (Dresden/Nuremberg – Istanbul), corridor VII (Danube river (North-West – South-East)) and
corridor IX (Helsinki – Alexandropoulos). Furthermore, Romania is the only country from the region included in the EU
programs aimed at extracting gas from the area and transporting it to the west and the centre of Europe. It also has access
to the Black Sea which is a vital space for the European economy.
In terms of geopolitical axis, Romania is on the west-east axis (EU – provides technology and capital; Central Asia – provide
resources and raw materials), north-west – southeast (EU – Balkan Peninsula, the Near East), the sea axis (Black Sea –
Caspian Sea – Mediterranean Sea) and the river and canals axis. The subject of the strategical importance of the Black Sea
is of great relevance, not only in Romania and other states that have access to it, but also worldwide, where major powers
such as the USA are developing cooperation plans in the region. For Romania, the proximity of the Black Sea represents an
important advantage in energy development, not only through the extraction of resources from the continental platform,
but also through participation in interconnected energy projects (for example, involvement in the Nabucco project which
aims to transport gas from the Caspian Sea to the west of Europe). Also, beyond the economic aspects, the Romanian state
benefits from in-depth cooperation at regional level, thus ensuring both the stability of its own eastern border and that
of the NATO structure.
With regard to Romania`s role in Europe`s security and energy efficiency, it should be mentioned that the primary
resources of the European countries are limited, which obliges Member States to worry about securing some quantities
of hydrocarbons from the Middle East and Central Asia. Romania`s level of energy independence is quite high, namely
80-85%, compared to a European average of only 53%, which will continue in the coming years. Also, in regard to energy,
Romania finds itself in an atypical situation in the European context because the dependency on the external energy
providers is minimal, being the third least dependent country in the EU. The current geopolitical framework offers
Romania the opportunity to develop the energy sector in the coming years in the context of regional and global economic
paradigm changes.
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To complement Romania`s role in the region and in the EU, we also need to mention the economic and human resources
opportunities. Therefore, Romania has specialised labour, which costs still significantly below the EU average. For example,
according to Eurostat – Statistical Office of the European Commission, in 2021, labour costs in EU Member States per hour
ranged from 6.5 to 45.8 Euros. Statistics show that the average is estimated at EUR 28.5, however, Romania records a
level of EUR 8.1/hour, significantly below this average3. Also, the Romanian market constitutes a large market place for
EU products since the country has natural resources (the arable land fund, the forest fund, methane, salt) and diversified
tourism potential that can be exploited for the benefit of the European community.
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1.3. EU MEMBERSHIP
Romania began its journey to the European Union on February 1st, 1993, when Romania’s Association Agreement with
the European Union was signed, a document which entered into force two years later. Romania formally submitted the
membership application in June 1995, and in December 1999, the European Council decided to open the membership
negotiations with six candidate countries, including Romania. Officially, negotiations were opened on February 15th, 2000.
The membership negotiations were concluded at technical level during the Membership Conference at Ministerial level
on December 14th, 2004, the decision being confirmed by the European Council from Brussels on 16-17 of December that
year. The Council also reaffirmed the accession timetable: April 2005 – signing the Membership Treaty; January 1st, 2007
– effective accession. In other words, since 2007, Romania has been a full member of the European Union, which brought
many benefits in terms of commercial and economic aspects and also regarding the reform of the justice system.
Romania held the Presidency of the European Union Council as of January 1st, 2019 till June 30th 2019, for six months, in a
period of maximum responsibility for defining the future of the Union, in the context of Brexit4.

1.4. POLITICAL ORGANISATION
According to the Constitution adopted in 1991, Romania is a republic, and democratic rights and freedom are guaranteed
by this fundamental law. Romania is a state with a multi-party system, but even if there are many political parties registered
at the moment, only the most important ones have representation in the Parliament.
The legislative power is represented by a bicameral parliament – the Senate and the Chamber of Deputies. Members
of both Chambers of Parliament are elected for a term of office of four years according with a system of proportionate
representation. Ethnic minorities also have representation in Parliament.
The executive power is formed by the President and the Government. The President of Romania is elected by universal,
equal, direct, secret and free suffrage for a maximum of two terms of five years each. He represents the country in external
affairs and is the commander-in-chief of the armed forces. In accordance with the Fundamental Law of 1991, the President
cannot be a member of any political party. The President appoints the Prime Minister that will lead the Government.
Generally, the Prime Minister is elected from among the members of the party(s) holding the majority in Parliament. The
Prime Minister is responsible for the election of the cabinet that will run all current operations of the government.
The Government is the public authority of the executive power which operated on the basis of the vote of confidence
from the Parliament and which ensures the implementation of the country`s internal and foreign policy exercising the
general management of the public administration. The President of Romania appoints the Government based on the vote
of confidence given by the Parliament.
The Government`s role is to ensure the balanced functioning and development of the national economic and social
system, as well as connecting it to the global economic system, while promoting the national interests, based on the
Government Program accepted by the Parliament.

3 More details can be found at https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php/Wages_and_labour_costs
4 According to the website http://www.romania2019.eu
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The Government consists of Prime Minister and Ministers. The Prime Minister runs the Government and coordinates the
work of its members, respecting their legal powers.
Judicial power consists of the High Court of Cassation and Justice which is the supreme court. Its members are appointed
by the President on the proposals of the Superior Council of Magistracy. In each of the 41 counties of the country and in
Bucharest there is a county court and several lower courts or courts of first instance. There are also 15 courts of appeal
where the appeals against the sentences delivered by the local courts are heard. There is a right to appeal to the High
Court of Cassation and Justice against the courts of appeal. Romania also has a Constitutional Court that is responsible for
maintaining the balance of power between the government bodies.

1.5. ADMINISTRATIVE AND TERRITORIAL ORGANISATION
From an administrative and territorial point of view, at NUTS-I level, Romania is divided into four macro-regions. Each of
them consists of two development regions, Romania being divided into eight development regions. These correspond
to NUTS-II level of EU divisions systems, but without administrative capacity. Development regions are mainly used to
coordinate regional development projects.
At NUTS-III level there are counties which are the territorial representative units. In every county, there is an administration
that manages the local politics. In Romania there are 41 counties, plus the capital city of Bucharest whose status is
similar to that of a county. On average, a county has an area of 5,800 km2 and a population of 500,000 inhabitants. The
capital city of Bucharest is the most important and most populated city of the country, being its political, administrative
and economic centre.
Development regions and counties are:
y North-East Region – comprises the counties of Iași, Botoșani, Neamț, Suceava, Bacău and Vaslui;
(Region 1 of Figure 1)
y South-East Region – comprises the counties of Tulcea, Vrancea, Galați, Brăila, Buzău and Constanța;
(Region 2 of Figure 1)
y South Muntenia Region – comprises the counties of Argeș, Dâmbovița, Prahova, Ialomița, Călărași, Giurgiu and
Teleorman;
(Region 3 of Figure 1)
y South-West Oltenia Region – comprises the counties of Mehedinți, Gorj, Vâlcea, Olt and Dolj;
(Region 4 of Figure 1)
y West Region – comprises the counties of Arad, Caraș-Severin, Hunedoara and Timiș;
(Region 5 of Figure 1)
y North-West Region – comprises the counties of Bihor, Bistrița-Năsăud, Cluj, Maramureș, Satu Mare and Sălaj;
(Region 6 of Figure 1)
y Central Region – comprises the counties of Alba, Sibiu, Mureș, Harghita, Covasna and Brașov;
(Region 7 of Figure 1)
y Bucharest-Ilfov Region – comprises Bucharest city and Ilfov county.
(Region 8 of Figure 1)
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Figure 1. Development regions within Romania (NUTS-II)
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Source: Author`s contribution.

1.6. MACROECONOMIC CONTEXT
Romania has made significant progress in recent years towards reducing macroeconomic imbalances which, alongside
the monetary policies and structural reforms implemented or in process of being implemented, have contributed to
maintaining macroeconomic and financial stability5.
For example, from a national and regional point of view, the main macroeconomic indicator, Gross Domestic Product
(GDP), registered in 2019 a value of 1,059.8 billion RON in 2019 (215. 91 billion Euros), and for 2020 it reached 1,040.8
billion RON (212.48 billion Euro), with GDP recording a hold-up in nominal values and a decrease of 3.7% in actual values
in context of the COVID-19 pandemic. For the year 2021, according to preliminary data, the GDP registered an amount
of 1,116.8 billion RON (227.75 billion euros) with an actual growth of 7% compared to 2020. The contribution of each
development region to GDP in 2018 is presented in Table 1.

5 The Ministry of Finance (2021), Raport privind situația macroeconomică pe anul 2021 și proiecția acesteia pe anii 2022-2024.
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Table 1. The distribution of the GDP by development regions in the projected year of 2021
Region

The Value of GDP
(billions of Lei)

The share in the national GDP
(%)

Bucharest-Ilfov

297.7

26.68

South Muntenia

131.5

12.17

North-West

135.8

11.78

Centre

129.4

11.60

South-East

114.5

10.26

North-East

117.9

10.57

West

102.7

9.20

86.4

7.74

1115.9

100

South-West Oltenia
Total

Source: National Commission for Strategy and Prognosis (CNSP).
According with this statistics, the Bucharest-Ilfov region contributed 26.68% of national GDP in 2021. The contribution
made with the South Muntenia region, within which it is positioned (at second place in the top of the results according to
Table 1), was almost 40%. By contrast, we have the region of South-West Oltenia which accounted for only 7.74% of the
total result.
Regarding the domestic macroeconomic developments, in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, these were affected
by the measures taken by the Romanian Government to support the business environment. The statistical data show an
economic decline of 3.7% in 2020 compared to 2019, as mentioned above, but at the same time, according to preliminary
data, the economy recovered in 2021, recording an increase of 4.5%, expected values for the coming years as well.
According to preliminary data, almost all branches of the economy contributed to the GDP growth in 2021 compared to
2020. The following had more important contributions:
y Industry (+1.2%), with a share of 20.5% in GDP formation;
y Services (+2.1%), with a share of 59.7% in GDP formation;
y Construction (+0.4%), with a lower share in GDP formation (8.9%).
In these circumstances, we can mention that investors can achieve significant returns in all areas, and Romania is an
investment-friendly environment.
Since the financial crisis in 2007-2009, budgetary imbalances have gradually eased. While the budget deficit reached
9.53% of GDP in 2009, later, with the support of the measures implemented under three consecutive EU/IMF financial
assistance programs, it (ESA methodology) gradually narrowed to 0.6% of GDP in 2015, i.e. an adjustment of 8.7% over
the period 2009-2015.
Since 2016, due to several tax reductions in line with the economic model promoted by the Romanian Government aimed
at improving the business environment, the execution of the consolidated general budget ended with a cash deficit of
2.4% of GDP, below the annual target, of 2.6% of GDP.
As shown in the chart below, the deficit calculated for Romania based on the European methodology (ESA) indicates a
growing deficit mainly due to support measures during the COVID-19 pandemic. Even though the level at the end of 2021
is high, it is expected that starting with 2021 the level of the deficit will decrease.
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Figure 2. Budget deficit in Romania during 1995-2021e
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Source: Ministry of Finance.
At the end of 2021, the inflation rate recorded a level of 5.1% compared to the same period of the past year. The trend
shows an increasing level of this indicator, similar to what happens in other European countries.
As a result of economic growth, labour market conditions have improved. The unemployment rate has continuously
decreased since 2010 to the end of 2021 to 3.6%6. The situation by region is presented in the following table.
Table 2. Unemployment rate by development regions in 2021
Region

Unemployment
rate
(%)

Bucharest-Ilfov

1.2%

South Muntenia

4.2%

North-West

2.7%

Centre

3.4%

South-East

5.1%

North-East

4.9%

West

2.2%

South-West Oltenia

6.1%

National average

3.6%

Source: National Institute of Statistics.
6 The National Agency for Employment.
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Romania took fiscal and budgetary policy measures with an effect on ensuring social protection for low-income
population groups and on stimulating the business environment in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, which is why
the macroeconomic indicators have suffered.
The Tax Code, the Romania`s fundamental legislative act on tax policy, adopted by Law no. 227/2015 on the Tax Code,
applicable from January 1st, 2016, contains incentive provisions both for the population and the investment environment,
and the wage increase undertaken have had an impact on consumption and investment.
2017 brought additional measure that, overall, accentuate the fiscal easing started in previous years in order to stimulate
economic growth. Romania has favourable tax regimes in place for companies that fall into the micro-enterprise category
(with a turnover less than EUR 1,000,000), but also for the liberal professions.
According to the Romanian Government, which concentrates its efforts on promoting stability-oriented macroeconomic
policies and reforms that will enable economic growth, Romania considers the following actions for the following period7:
y stimulating, continuing, consolidating and maintaining smart, sustainable and inclusive economic growth, which will
provide the prerequisites for building a strong, proactive state and a balanced society in order to increase investor
confidence in the Romanian economy;
y the allocation of significant funds to support public investments by prioritizing significant public investments to
provide infrastructure and services, to improve the quality of life, with a multiplying effect and a direct contribution to
gross fixed capital formation;
y creating a predictable tax policy in order to support the business environment and stimulate investment in high valueadded sectors, simplify taxation and streamline internal processes in order to create the premise for a sustainable
economic growth;
y measures taken by the government to stimulate consumption by adopting wage and social measures to ensure social
protection and social security for the elderly, retired people and the most vulnerable categories;
y development and diversification of public debt management tools;
y improving, enforcing and consolidating budgetary governance, increasing budgetary transparency and streamline
public spending.

1.7. INFRASTRUCTURE
The Romanian transport infrastructure is complex, but deficient and requires significant investments and modernisation.
Fortunately, the EU allocated several billion euros to support development needs in the sector, therefore infrastructure is
expected to show significant improvements in the coming years.

þ

Road infrastructure

Road infrastructure is one of the least developed in Europe, according to Eurostat. Even though Romania has a long-term
plan for the construction of highways, there is a possibility of frequent delays, given that very few kilometres of highway
have been built since the state become an EU member in 2007.
At the beginning of 2022, there were 86,199 km of public roads in Romania, of which 20.9% were national roads, 40.7% –
county roads and 39% – communal roads. Of the total length of national roads, 35.4% (6,200 km) were European roads
and 5.37% (961 km) highways. By number of lanes, 1.6% of these were three-lane roads, 10.3% – four-lane roads and 0.1%
– six-lane roads. The Government has prioritised several highway projects that are set to be built over the next ten years.

7 The Ministry of Finance (2021), Raport privind situația macroeconomică pe anul 2021 și proiecția acesteia pe anii 2022-2024.
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Railway infrastructure

Like the road network, the Romanian railway system is in great need for modernisation and investments. The average
speed of Romanian railway transport is rather low, being one of the slowest in Europe. At the end of 2021, there were
10,774 km of public railroads in Romania of which 98.7% were normal lines, 40.8% – narrow lines and 1.3% – large gauge
lines. The length of electrified railroads in use was 4,030 km, representing 37.4% from the entire length of the railroad
network. The network is well connected to Europe, including with Vienna, Budapest, Prague, Warsaw and Venice, among
others, providing pan-European multi-pass travel services.

þ

Maritime and port infrastructure

Romania is located at the intersection of trade linking the markets of European landlocked countries to the Caucasus,
Central Asia and the Far East. Here, the port of Constanta has excellent connections with the countries from Central and
Eastern Europe through Corridor IV (by rail and road), Corridor VII – Danube (inland waterways), to which it is connected
through Danube-Black Sea Canal and Corridor IX (road), which passes through Bucharest. The two satellite ports, Midia
and Mangalia, that are not far from the port of Constanta, are part of the Romanian maritime port system under the
coordination of Constanta Port Administration.
The port of Constanta is one of the most important distribution centres for Central and Eastern Europe, being a
multifunctional port with the deepest operational water in the Black Sea in the port basins, to accommodate the largest
ships passing through Bosphorus (Turkey). The port of Constanta has a handling capacity of more than 100 million tons
per year and 156 berths, of which 140 berths are operational. The total quay length is 29.83 km, and depths range from
8 to 19 metres. In terms of capacity, the port could accommodate ships with a capacity of 165,000 tonnes deadweight
(DWT) and bulk carriers of 220,000 DWT, containers of 10,000 twenty-foot equivalent units (TEU) (due to the limitations
of the Bosphorus).
The connection between the port and the Danube River is made through the Danube-Black Sea Canal, which is one of
the main strengths of the port of Constanta. Due to low costs and large volumes of freight that can be transported, the
Danube is one of the most advantageous modes of transport, an efficient alternative to busy European transport (rail and
road).

þ

Air infrastructure

Romania has 16 airports. The total number of passengers transiting through the airports amounts to approximately
20 million. The largest shares of passengers and freight transport were recorded on ”Henri Coandă” International Airport
– Bucharest (approximately 12 million), ”Avram Iancu” International Airport – Cluj-Napoca (2.6 million) and ”Traian Vuia”
International Airport – Timișoara (1.5 million).

1.8. FINANCIAL SYSTEM
In order to perform a brief analysis of the financial system, the following categories of market participants should be
considered:
y the banking sector;
y the non-bank financial sector (insurance market, private pension market and non-bank financial institutions);
y the capital market.

þ

Banking sector

The Romanian banking system has a very good yield and liquidity which allowed it to absorb, over time, various economic
shocks and remain relatively stable. In the short to medium term, the stability of the Romanian banking system depends
on the banks` ability to monitor and strengthen the quality of the loan portfolios, as well as on the commitment of their
associates to maintain adequate levels of funding and capital.
The National Bank of Romania (BNR) has an inherent role in maintaining financial stability, given the responsibilities
resulting from its double position as monetary authority and authority for prudential supervision. The responsibilities
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that fall under the objectives of financial stability are exercised both through the regulation and prudential supervision of
institutions under its authority, and by efficiently formulating and conveying the measures of monetary policy measures
and by supervising the optimal functioning of systemically important payment and settlement systems.

þ

Insurance market

The insurance market is regulated by the Financial Supervisory Authority (ASF) which was established in 2013 and took
over the prerogatives of the Insurance Supervisory Commission, the National Romanian Securities Commission and
Private Pensions System Supervisory Commission.
The Romanian insurance market has registered a significant merger and acquisition activity in recent years with all major
actors in the region having a local presence, including Allianz from Germany, Groupama from France, Uniqa and Vienna
Insurance Group from Austria.
The European economic context continued to improve throughout 2020, with a positive impact on the European
insurance market. Romania experienced the same trend and thus, insurance companies authorised and regulated by the
ASF subscribed gross premiums amounting to Lei 11.5 billion. A change in trends manifested over previous years is the
strengthening of the life insurance segment8.

þ

Private pension market

In 2007, the Romanian pension system was majorly restructured based on the multi-pillar model of the World Bank.
Additional pronouncements and regulations are issued by the Financial Supervisory Authority. The new system has
become mandatory for all employees under the age of 35 and is optional for those aged 35 to 45.
Only the employees that pay social security contributions (CAS) can participate in a mandatory private pension fund. Since
2008, part of the social security contribution owed by individuals has been redirected from the state budget to the chosen
private fund. The redirected contribution was 2% in 2008 to be 3.75% from 2008 onwards, while the contribution to the
State social security system decreased accordingly. Mandatory pension funds are managed by pension management
companies (administrators) that cannot manage more than one fund.
Participation in a voluntary pension fund is open to all earners — from employees to self-employed. For employees, the
contributions are collected by the employer, who must transfer the amounts to voluntary pension funds.
The evolution of the private pension system was a positive one throughout its operation, with the number of participants
and the value of their personal assets steadily increasing. The aim was to ensure a balanced ratio between the security and
the performance of investments for the benefit of future pensioners, as well as the protection of their interests. Therefore,
at the end of 2021, there were 7.51 million participants were registered in the Romanian private pension system (Pillar II
and Pillar III)8.

þ

Non-bank financial institutions (IFN)

In Romania, the establishment and operation of the IFN are governed by Law no. 93/2009 on non-banking financial
institutions, as subsequently amended and supplemented. These can perform the following lending activities, under
the law:
y lending (consumer loans, mortgages, real estate, microcredits, financing of commercial transactions, factoring,
discounting, forfaiting operations);
y financial leasing;
y issuing guarantees, entering into guarantee commitments, making financing commitments;
y granting credits with receipt of goods under pledge, i.e. pawning through pawn shops;

8 ASF 2020 Annual Report.
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y other forms of financing of the nature of the loan.

þ

Capital market

The most important stock exchange is Bucharest Stock Exchange (BVB). It was initially established in 1864, then reestablished in April 1995, but transactions began only in November 1995. The volume of transactions was not significant
until 2003-2004. The main securities traded are shares, bonds, public securities, other types of securities (i.e. equity rights),
derivatives (futures and options), fund units, etc.
Investment participation in BVB is through an intermediary (financial investment services company or credit institution)
or an investment management company. The financial investment services company will buy and/or sell financial
instruments. The intermediary must be authorised to provide financial investment services, which may be a financial
investment service company authorised by the ASF (known as SSIF), a credit institution authorised by the National Bank
of Romania or a financial investment service company or a credit institution authorised to provide financial investment
services by the competent authorities of the EU Member States.
There was also an electronic securities stock exchange (RASDAQ) in Romania based on the similar New York City stock
exchange (NASDAQ). It became operational in October 1996 and was dissolved in October 2015 as a result of the Law
no. 151/2014 clarifying the legal status of shares traded on RASDAQ Market or on the unlisted securities market. Companies
listed on RASDAQ had to prepare to be transferred on a regulated market, an alternative trading system (AeRO market) or
to become closed companies.

þ

Currency exchange

Romania does not limit the conversion or transfer of funds associated with direct investments. All profits made by foreign
investors in Romania can be converted into another currency and transferred abroad at the market exchange rate after
the payment of taxes. The national currency of Romania, the Leu, is freely convertible into current account transactions,
according to the Article VIII of the Statute of the International Monetary Fund (FMI).

þ

Remittance policies

There is no limitations on inflows or outflows of funds for profit remittances, debt servicing, capital gains, intellectual
property returns or imported inputs. Proceeds from the sale of shares, bonds or other securities, as well as those from
investments may be transferred in any other jurisdiction.

1 ROMANIA, A DESTINATION WITH POTENTIAL FOR INVESTORS
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CHAPTER 2.
FOREIGN INVESTMENTS IN ROMANIA
As it is well known, every country is pursuing economic development and capital is the source of this. Domestic investment
sources are often limited and for this reason countries aim to attract foreign capital. Romania is constantly trying to build
a safe and stable business environment for foreign investors, so that the capital they bring can help economic growth and
be a factor of stability when the economy is under pressure.

2.1. ADVICE FOR INVESTORS
As presented in the previous chapter, Romania has a strategic geographical position, a large market and relatively low
labour cost compared to the other UE countries. Under these circumstances, Romania has a considerable range of
favourable factors for foreign investors who have managed to attract foreign capital in recent years.
In terms of hourly labour cost, statistics at European level show an average of EUR 28.5 in the EU-28. However, this average
cost hides significant differences between the EU Member States, with hourly labour cost ranging from EUR 6.5 in Bulgaria
to EUR 45.8 in Denmark (see Figure 3). Romania has a low labour cost of only EUR 8.1/hour. Labour costs consists of wage
costs plus non-wage costs, such as employers` social contributions.
Table 3. Hourly labour cost in 2021
Member state

Hourly labour
cost
(Euro)

Member state

Hourly labour
cost
(Euro)

Denmark

45.8

Greece

16.9

Luxembourg

42.1

Portugal

15.7

Belgium

41.1

Malta

14.5

France

37.5

Czech Republic

14.1

Sweden

37.3

Estonia

13.6

Netherlands

36.8

Slovakia

13.4

Austria

36.7

Poland

11.0

Germany

36.6

Croatia

10.8

Finland

34.3

Latvia

10.5

Ireland

32.3

Lithuania

10.1

Italy

29.8

Hungary

9.9

Spain

22.8

Romania

8.1

Slovenia

19.9

Bulgaria

6.5

Cyprus

17.0

Source: Eurostat.
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The number of employees at the end of 2020 was 5,411.1 thousand people. Compared to the end of the previous year,
the number of employees decreased by 70 thousand people, in the context of the situation created by the COVID-19
pandemic and the reduction or cessation of activity of a significant number of economic and social entities. At the same
time, analysing the distribution of the number of employees by development regions and counties, at the end of 2020
we can see an uneven distribution among them, with a concentration in counties where there are cities with economic
development: Bucharest, Cluj-Napoca, Iași, Timișoara, Brașov.
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Table 4. Actual number of employees in Romania at the end of 2020
Region

Actual number
of employees
(thousands)

Percentage of total employees
at national level
(%)

1,209.2

22.35

North-West

747.4

13.81

Centre

687.6

12.71

North-East

612.2

11.31

South Muntenia

610.9

11.29

South-East

570.6

10.54

West

551.1

10.18

South-West Oltenia

422.1

7.80

5,411.1

100

Bucharest-Ilfov

Total
Source: National Institute of Statistics.

The average monthly gross salary recorded at the level of the national economy in 2020 was of 5,213 Lei, which is 7.4%
higher than in the previous year. The average monthly net salary was of 3,217 Lei, increasing by 7.7% (+231 Lei) compared
to the previous year. The real earnings index 15 was 104.9% for 2020, compared to the previous year. According to
preliminary data, at the end of 2021 the average gross monthly salary is 5,773 Lei.
Table 5. Average gross monthly salary and average net monthly salary in Romania in 2020
Economic activities

Average gross
monthly salary
(Lei)

Average net
monthly salary
(Lei)

Agriculture, forestry and fisheries

4,002

2,412

Extractive industry

7,352

4,552

Manufacturing industry

4,462

2,757

Production and supply of electricity and heat, gas, hot water and air
conditioning

8,060

4,832

Water distribution, sanitation, waste management, decontamination
activities

4,375

2,648

Construction

4,094

3,065

Wholesale and retail trade, repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles

4,318

2,609

2 FOREIGN INVESTMENTS IN ROMANIA
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Economic activities

Average gross
monthly salary
(Lei)

Average net
monthly salary
(Lei)

Transport and storage

4,804

2,907

Hotels and restaurants

2,907

1,762

Information and communications

9,863

6,191

Financial intermediation and insurance

8,828

5,315

Real estate transactions

4,160

2,524

Professional, scientific and technical activities

6,647

4,143

Administrative and support service activities

4,067

2,457

Public administration (exclusively armed forces and related personnel)

8,679

5,212

Education

6,015

3,574

Health and social work

6,687

4,003

Entertainment, cultural and recreational activities

4,537

2,723

Other service activities

3,357

2,024

Source: National Institute of Statistics.
Lately, Romania has taken measures to stimulate investments and has also achieved the improvement of the quality of
general institutional environment, things which can provide the country with another perspective in the region and
about which we will discuss in the following sections.
According to the National Bank of Romania, in 2020 the net flow of FDI recorded the level of 3,005 million euros, down
41.9% compared to 2019 in the context of SARS-COV-2.
If we were to make statistics over a longer period, between 1991 and 2021 236,260 companies with foreign capital were
established, the total value of the subscribed share capital exceeding 64.35 billion dollars.
The number of businesses (SRL, SA, PFA, etc.) established in 2021 in Romania is 139,650. One can notice that there is a
large number of investors who trust the Romanian economy, most of which are found in the Bucharest-Ilfov region, which
is also the most developed from this point of view.
Table 6. Number of active companies in Romania in 2021
County

No.
company

%
total

County

No.
company

%
total

Alba

3,046

2.18%

Harghita

1,396

1.00%

Arad

3,200

2.29%

Hunedoara

2,516

1.80%

Argeş

3,657

2.62%

Ialomiţa

1,046

0.75%

Bacău

2,870

2.06%

Iaşi

5,617

4.02%

Bihor

5,356

3.84%

Ilfov

6,579

4.71%

Bistriţa-Năsăud

2,619

1.88%

Maramureş

3,415

2.45%

Botoşani

1,419

1.02%

Mehedinţi

1,212

0.87%

Braşov

4,554

3.26%

Mureş

3,135

2.24%

DOING BUSINESS IN ROMANIA
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County

No.
company

Brăila

%
total

1,370

0.98%

22,215

15.91%

Buzău

2,139

Caraş-Severin

County

No.
company

%
total

Neamţ

2,164

1.55%

Olt

1,915

1.37%

1.53%

Prahova

3,875

2.77%

1,199

0.86%

Satu Mare

1,768

1.27%

Cluj

8,039

5.76%

Sibiu

3,154

2.26%

Constanţa

4,765

3.41%

Suceava

2,959

2.12%

Covasna

1,016

0.73%

Sălaj

1,611

1.15%

Călăraşi

1,174

0.84%

Teleorman

1,260

0.90%

Dolj

4,407

3.16%

Timiş

6,608

4.73%

Dâmboviţa

4,259

3.05%

Tulcea

1,254

0.90%

Galaţi

2,729

1.95%

Vaslui

1,339

0.96%

Giurgiu

1,505

1.08%

Vrancea

1,739

1.25%

Gorj

1,654

1.18%

Vâlcea

1,896

1.36%

Bucharest

Total: 139.650 (100,00%)
Source: National Institute of Statistics.

2.2. SPECIFIC LEGISLATION
The legal framework provides different guarantees for foreign investors, including the guarantee of full and unlimited use
of the results of the investment made.

þ What types of companies can set up a foreign investor in Romania?
A foreign investor may set up SRLs (limited liability companies), branches or subsidiaries. Investments with foreign capital
or in association with Romanian natural persons or legal persons can also be made. The participation of a foreign investor
in the increase of the share capital of an existent company or in the acquisition of industrial and intellectual property
rights is also permitted.

þ Who are foreign investors who can open a business in Romania?
The foreign investor may be a natural or legal person with the registered office in a foreign country.

þ In which sectors can a foreign investor operate in Romania?
Romania allows investments in multiple sectors, such as natural resources, agriculture, infrastructure, communications,
etc. Moreover, an investor can take advantage of sectors such as construction, research and technological development
or transport and tourism. However, an investor must ensure that it does not violate laws relating to the environment and
national security and does not harm public order.
To encourage foreign investors, the Department for Infrastructure Projects, Foreign Investments, Public-Private
Partnership and the Promotion of Exports was established. This department shall, at the request of foreign investors
provide technical assistance, support and advice, together with the competent authorities, as appropriate, for carrying
out investment projects with foreign equity participation, including the procedure for completing formalities for
confirmed foreign investments and existing schemes under which investors may apply for funding from the responsible
authority.

2 FOREIGN INVESTMENTS IN ROMANIA
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2.3. OPPORTUNITIES FOR ECONOMIC GROWTH
As presented in the previous chapter, Romania has made significant progress in recent years reducing macroeconomic
imbalances and maintaining macroeconomic and financial stability9.
Romania recorded 7% economic growth in 2021, recovering after the coronavirus crisis. The highest growth is 14.60%, in
Ireland, while Germany is 2.7%, at the other end.
Figure 3. Economic growth in the EU in 2021 (%)
16.0%

14.6

14.0%
12.0%
10.0%
8.0%

7%

6.0%
4.0%

5%
2.7%

2.0%
0.0%

Source: Eurostat.

2.4. BUSINESS OPPORTUNITIES
Romania has a significant internal market, with a population of around 20 million citizens, and also provides quick access
to the entire EU market. Given also the opening to the Black Sea, we can say that it is possible to make an immediate
connection with Middle East countries, as well as with other important countries in the area, such as Turkey or Ukraine.
The most important foreign investments have been made in sectors such as machinery and equipment, energy, oil and
gas, renewable energies, IT&C (information and communication technology), agriculture and economics.
As a member of the European Union, Romania has benefited from EU funds during the programming period 2007-2013.
Thus, during this period, the EU allocated around 19.2 billion euros to Romania. The eligible sectors came from various
areas, such as transport and rural development, education and social inclusion, energy and environment. The funds have
been used at an absorption rate which ultimately reached almost 90%.

2.5. EUROPEAN FUNDS
For the current programming period 2014-2020, the EC allocated EUR 43 billion ($ 57.1 billion in 2014) to Romania,
including the following programs:
y Competitiveness Operational Programme (EUR 1.33 billion from the European Regional Development Fund) – it
focuses on consolidating research, development and innovation (R&D&I), supporting economic competitiveness and
business development, as well as improving access to information and communication technologies and a competitive
digital economy.

9 The Ministry of Finance (2021), Raport privind situația macroeconomică pe anul 2021 și proiecția acesteia pe anii 2022-2024.
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y The Human Capital Operational Programme (EUR 4.22 billion from the European Social Fund) – represents an
important source of investment in employment, education and social inclusion, with a focus on youth, the integration
of Roma citizens and rural population.
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y The Large Infrastructure Operational Programme (EUR 9.41 billion from the European Regional Development Fund
and the Cohesion Fund) – is intended for the development of transport infrastructure, sustainable urban transport,
environment, energy and risk prevention.
y Regional Operational Programme (EUR 6.7 billion from the European Regional Development Fund) – aims to
promote a sustainable and inclusive smart development in all regions of Romania.
y The Operational Programme Administrative Capacity (EUR 0.55 billion from the European Social Fund) – aims to
improve the efficiency, transparency and accessibility of the Romanian public administration and judicial system.
y Technical Assistance Operational Programme (EUR 0.21 billion from the European Regional Development Fund) –
provides support for the management of European Structural and Investment Funds.
Other programmes include, among others, the National Rural Development Programme (EUR 8 billion), the European
Programme for Fisheries and Maritime Affairs (EUR 0.17 billion) and the Territorial Cooperation Programmes (EUR 0.45
billion).

2 FOREIGN INVESTMENTS IN ROMANIA
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CHAPTER 3.
SPECIFIC BUSINESS REGULATIONS
3.1. LEGAL FRAMEWORK
Romania has a Roman law system with very few Anglo-Saxon influences. The Constitution is the fundamental law in
our country. It defines Romania as national, sovereign and independent, unitary and indivisible State, and explains the
relationships between the executive, legislative and judicial power and between state authorities, citizens and legal
entities. With reference to the business environment, the Constitution states that the Romania`s economy is a market
economy based on free initiative and competition.
Organic laws regulate areas of major importance for the state, such as the property legal regime, the Criminal Code, the
financial and tax system etc. These are the basis for the Romanian legislative system. We can also include here the laws
governing the business environment, such as the Company Law, the Tax Code, the Civil Code etc.
Ordinary laws govern all other areas not covered by the organic laws. An ordinary law cannot amend a higher-ranking
legal rule, such as an organic law or the Constitution.
In particular cases, as determined by the Parliament, government ordinances may be issued. These are issued based on
a special power of attorney, within the limits and under the conditions laid down in that act. In certain situations, the
Government may issue emergency ordinances making legislative amendments and entering into force as soon as they are
published in the Romanian Official Journal. They are subsequently promulgated by the Parliament.
Another category of legislative regulations are government decisions that determine how laws and other organisational
aspects of their application are to be implemented. They are issued only based on and for the purpose of implementing
laws, and government laws, decisions and orders.

3.2. COMPANY LAW
The legislative regulations on companies are included in Company Law no. 31/1990, republished, as subsequently
amended and supplemented. This legislative act contains the general rules applicable to all categories of companies, as
well as special rules relating to each legal form of a company (partnership, limited partnership, share company, limited
partnership with share capital and limited company). Regarding the application, Law no. 31/1990 is the primary law
applicable to all companies, regardless of the sector in which they are established and operate, of the capital invested
(Romanian or foreign) in the formation of share capital or other similar elements.
There are also some specific sectors where special rules on the establishment, organisation, operation and cessation of
the companies` activity arise. Thus, in the insurance and banking sector there are special rules, and where they do not
have provisions, the requirements of Law no. 31/1990 apply.
In addition to the Company Law, business-specific regulations are also found in the Civil Code, the Labour Code and the
other normative acts with implications in the field. Moreover, Article 291 of Law no. 31/1990 states that “the provisions
of this Law shall be supplemented by the provisions of the Civil Code and the Code of Civil Procedure”. Also, according
to Article 284 of the same legislative act, personnel employment takes place on the basis of an individual contract of
employment, in compliance with labour and social security legislation.

3.3. LABOUR MARKET AND SPECIFIC LEGISLATION
An important aspect to consider by any investor, especially a foreign one, is the workforce. Knowing the legal aspects in
an advantage for the success of any business. In Romania, the specific regulations are found in Law no. 53/2003 – Labour
Code, republished, as amended. This is the fundamental legislative act governing the relations between the employee
and the employer, being accompanied by other specific regulations, such as those relating to labour protection, social
security, social dialogue etc.

DOING BUSINESS IN ROMANIA

In Romania, freedom of work is guaranteed by the Constitution. The right to work cannot be restricted. Everyone is free to
choose their employment and the profession or activity that they intend to perform.
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þ Types of employment contracts
Any company established in Romania may conclude individual employment contracts, as an employer, from the moment
of acquiring legal personality. According to specific legislation, there are several forms of employment: permanent, fixedterm, part-time, temporary agency, apprenticeship, internship contracts. The written form is mandatory for the valid
conclusion of the contract.
The individual employment contract is the document under which an employee who is a natural person undertakes
to perform the work for and under the authority of an employer in return for remuneration known as a salary. It contains
essential clauses relating to: workplace, position, job description, normal duration of work, expressed in hours/day and
hours/week, overtime, rest time, salary, benefits, leave, conditions for giving notice, duration of probation etc. In addition
to the essential clauses required, the parties may also negotiate specific clauses that will be included in the individual
employment contract such as professional training, non-compete, mobility or confidentiality clauses.
The individual employment contract may be concluded for a permanent or a fixed period, under the terms expressly stated
by the law (replacement of an employee, seasonal work, employment of retired individuals, increase and/or temporary
modification of the structure of the employer`s activity etc.) The individual fixed-term employment contract cannot be
concluded for more than 36 months. Up to three individual fixed-term employment contracts may be concluded succe
ssively between the same parties.
Regarding the individual part-time employment contract, the employer may employ part-time employees on
individual contracts of part-time employment or fixed duration. The part-time employee is the one whose number of
normal working hours, calculated weekly or as a monthly average, is less than the number of normal working hours of a
comparable full-time employee from within the same entity.
Temporary employment contract with a temporary agency is an individual employment contract concluded in writing
between the temporary work agency and the temporary employee during a mission. This type of work is performed by a
temporary employee which is put at the user`s disposal to work temporarily under the supervision and management of
the latter, for the performance of a specific and temporary task. The assignment of temporary work shall be set for a period
not exceeding 24 months.
The apprenticeship contract at the workplace is an individual employment contract of a particular nature under which
the employer undertakes, aside from paying a salary, to provide vocational training for the apprentice in a profession
according to his field of activity, while the apprentice undertakes to train and work under the authority of that employer.
In order to stimulate the workforce, in the case of this type of contract, the employer may receive a sum of money from
the state authorities.
In certain sectors, expressly provided for by Law no. 52/2011 regarding the exercise of occasional activities carried out
by day workers, republished, as amended, such as agriculture, advertising, the organization of fairs and exhibitions,
hotels and other accommodation facilities, restaurants etc., occasional workers called day workers may be used. The
employment relationship shall be determined by the agreement of the parties, without the need to conclude an
individual employment contract for a duration of at least one day.
The internship contract is governed by Law no. 176/2018 on internship, as supplemented, and may be an alternative to
the probationary period previous to the conclusion of an individual employment contract, while the employee`s qualities
can be tested. The duration of an internship programme shall be no more than 720 hours over six consecutive months,
without the possibility of extension. The amount of the compensation for the internship shall be at least 50% from the
national minimum gross basic salary and shall granted proportionally with the number of hours worked.

þ Particular cases
The company may also use other forms of contracts in relation to individuals, based on which these individuals are
obtaining revenues from self-employed activities, that benefit from a specific tax under the rules of the Tax Code. They
cover activities that aim to enable transactions carried out through an intermediary, such as mandate, commission
representation or agency contract.
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ü

Mandate contract

Technically speaking, the mandate is the contract by which one party named agent takes on the obligation to conclude
one or more legal acts on behalf of the other part, called principal. This contract may be concluded in writing free of
charge or for consideration. Companies may conclude such a contract with managers or directors with delegated powers,
and it cannot exist in parallel with an individual employment contract. In addition to the general clauses for termination of
contracts, the mandate shall be terminated by being revoking it by the principal, the agent`s withdrawal, death, incapacity
or bankruptcy of the principal or the agent.
ü

Commission contract

It covers the purchase or sale of goods or the provision of services on account of behalf of the principal (the company) and
in the name of the agent, who is acting in a professional capacity for remuneration.
ü

Agency contract

Under the agency contract, the principal (the company) firmly empowers the agent to negotiate, or both to negotiate
and conclude contracts, on their account and on their behalf in exchange of a remuneration, in one or more specified
regions. The intermediation activity under the agency contract shall be a long-term and professional nature and not of an
occasional nature, as in the case of the mandate contract or commission contract.
The employment contract may terminate in the following situations: de jure (retirement, death, expired term etc.),
following the agreement of the parties on the date agreed by them, following the unilateral will of one of the parties, in
the cases and under the conditions exhaustively provided for by law (dismissal for reasons relating or not to the employee,
resignation). The period of notice shall be agreed by the parties in the individual employment contract or, were applicable,
that provided for in the applicable collective agreements, and shall not exceed 20 working days for the employees in
executive positions, i.e. more than 45 working days for management employees.
For the purpose of assessing the employee`s skills, a trial period of maximum 90 calendar days for the executive positions
and maximum 120 calendar days for management positions may be set at the conclusion of the individual employment
contract.
The assessment of professional skills at the employment of individuals with disabilities shall be carried out solely by
means of a probationary period of up to 30 calendar days.
The suspension of the individual employment contract has the effect of interrupting the performance of work by the
employee and the payment of salary entitlements by the employer. Situations of suspension may be: maternity leave,
leave for temporary incapacity for work, employment in the trade union, quarantine etc.
ü

Work permit

The professional activity of foreign citizens on Romanian territory may be carried out e only on the basis of an employment
permit or work permit. According to European Union regulations, nationals of EU/EEA Member States and Switzerland
do not need a work permit. In the case of other citizens, members of other countries, they can only work in Romania
by obtaining a work permit, and then a long stay visa for work and a residence. The authorisations are issued by the
General Inspectorate for Immigration in accordance with the Government Ordinance no. 25/2014 on the employment
and secondment of foreigners on Romanian territory and amending and supplementing certain legislative acts on the
regime of foreigners in Romania, as amended.
There are several types of authorisations that can be granted to foreign citizens: for permanent workers, seasonal workers
or trainees, for athletes, cross-border workers, individual work permit. Depending on employment, the right of temporary
residence for work purposes may be extended for a certain period of time. As a general rule, it may be extended for a period
equal to that of the validity of the employment contract, but no more than a year. In the case of highly qualified workers,
they may extend their right to stay temporarily for work purposes by a period equal to the validity of the employment
contract plus three months, but no more than two years.
According to the regulations, foreign citizens (other than those from EU/EEA Member States and Switzerland) are allowed
to carry out work in Romania in a limited number, which is determined annually by the Romanian Government. In order
to be able to bring foreign citizens to work on the Romanian territory, the process is rather difficult, the companies having
to prove the real necessity for which they are intended to be used and not for Romanian citizens.
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3.4. WORK CONDITIONS AND OTHER STANDARDS
þ Working time
For full-time employees, the normal working time is 40 hours per week, usually distributed in 8 hours/day for 5 days, with
two days` rest. For young people under the age of 18, the working time is 6 hours/day and 30 hours/week. The maximum
legal working time cannot exceed 48 hours/week, including overtime. According to the specific legislation, by way of
exception, this duration may be extended beyond 48 hours/week, as long as the average working hours determined over
a reference period of four calendar months do not exceed 48 hours/week.
Work performed outside the normal duration of weekly working time shall be considered as overtime and shall
compensated by hours paid hours within 60 calendar days after it has been completed. In these circumstances, the
employee benefits shall receive the corresponding salary for hours worked beyond normal working hours.

þ Pay
The salary includes basic salary, allowances, bonuses and other additions. The individual salary is determined by individual
negotiations between the employer and the employee. The employer has the obligation to guarantee the payment of a
monthly gross salary at least equal to the gross minimum per country. The level of the gross minimum salary in Romania
is 2,550 lei (approximately EUR 515). These provisions also apply if the employee is present at work during the working
programme, but cannot perform his work for reasons not attributable to him, with the exception of the strike.
The salary is paid in money at least once a month on the date established in the individual employment contract, the
applicable collective agreement or the internal rules of procedure, as case may be. The salary is confidential and the
employer has the obligation to take the necessary measures to ensure confidentiality.

þ Safety at work
Specific occupational safety regulation requires employers to assess the risks to workers` health and safety at work and
to develop a prevention and protection plan. The employer has a legal obligation to provide regular information to
employees in the field of occupational protection, health and safety at work. This is mandatory to all employees. According
to the legislation in force, employers with at least 50 employees have the obligation to set up a Committee on Safety and
Health at Work.

þ Social contributions
In accordance with the fiscal legislation in Romania, social contributions for employees in our country are:
y 25% pension contribution for normal working conditions, incurred entirely by the employee. The employer incurs an
additional 4% for special working conditions and 8% for difficult (special) working conditions;
y 10% health contribution, fully incurred by the employee;
y 2.25% employment insurance contribution, incurred by the employer.

3.5. RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF EMPLOYEES AND EMPLOYERS
Specific labour legislation sets out the rights and obligations of employees (Art. 39 from the Labour Code, republished, as
amended), and employers (Art. 40 from the same legislative act).
Under this provision, the employee has the following rights:
y pay for the work done;
y at daily and weekly rest;
y annual leave;
y equal opportunities and treatment;
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y dignity at work;
y occupational safety and health;
y professional training;
y information and consultation;
y to take part in the determination and improving of working conditions and the working environment;
y protection in case of dismissal;
y in collective and individual negotiation;
y to take part in collective actions;
y to form or join a trade union;
y other rights provided for by law or applicable collective agreements.
The employee has the following obligations:
y to achieve the standard of work or, where appropriate, to perform the duties assigned to him in accordance with the
job description;
y to comply with the work discipline;
y to comply with the provisions included in the internal regulations, the applicable collective agreement and the
individual employment contract;
y loyalty to the employer in the performance of their duties;
y to comply with occupational safety and health measures in the establishment;
y to respect the principle of professional secrecy;
y other obligations required by law or applicable collective agreements.
The employer generally has the following rights:
y to establish the organisation and functioning of the entity;
y to establish the duties corresponding to each employee, in accordance with the law;
y to make binding provisions for the employee, provided these are legal;
y to exercise control over the performance of work tasks;
y to ascertain the misconducts and apply appropriate sanctions, according to the law, applicable collective agreement
and the internal regulations;
y to set the individual performance objectives, as well as the criteria for assessing their achievement.
The employer generally has the following obligations:
y to inform employees of the working conditions and of the aspects concerning the conduct of work relationships;
y to ensure at all times the technical and organisational conditions considered in the development of work standards
and the corresponding working conditions;
y to grant employees with the rights arising from the law, the applicable collective labour agreement and the individual
employment contracts;
y to periodically communicate to employees the economic and financial situation of the entity, with the exception of
sensitive or secret information which, by being disclosed, is likely to harm the entity`s activity. The frequency of the
communications is established by negotiation in the applicable collective agreement;
y to consult with the trade union or, were appropriate, with the representatives of employees on decisions likely to
substantially affect their rights and interests;
y to pay all contributions and taxes liable to him, as well as to retain and transfer contributions and taxes due by
employees, in accordance with the law;
y to set up the general registry of employees and operate the recordings required by law;
y to issue, upon request, all documents proving the applicant`s status as an employee;
y to ensure the confidentiality of employees` personal data.
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þ Trade unions and collective agreements
Companies with more than 21 employees must conduct collective negotiations annually with their employees
(represented in the negotiations either by a trade union or by the elected representatives of employees), but do not
have the obligation to conclude collective negotiations agreements. Employees can join freely to defend their rights and
promote their professional, economic and social interests, by forming trade unions.

3.6. PROTECTION OF INTELLECTUAL AND INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY
In Romania, intellectual property rights are protected by several legislative acts specifically applicable to each category
of intellectual property rights. In this context, it can be noted that intellectual property rights are of great importance,
the purpose of which is to protect the product of human intelligence and at the same time guarantee the benefit of
consumers to use these products.
Table 7. Legislation specific to intellectual property rights
Copyright

Regulated by

Inventions

Law no. 64/1991 on patents, republished

Utility models

Law no. 350/2007 on utility models, as amended

Trademarks and geographical
indications

Law no. 84/1998 on trademarks and geographical indications, republished

Industrial designs

Law no. 129/1992 on the protection of designs, republished

Topographies of semiconductor
products

Law no. 16/1995 on the protection of topographies of semiconductor
products, republished

Copyright

Law no. 8/1996 on copyright and related rights, republished, as amended

The Romanian legal framework on intellectual property rights has been progressively harmonised with the corresponding
European legislation (relevant EU directives and EU regulations) and generally with the pronouncements stated in
international treaties and conventions. The most important UE regulations which are directly applicable in Romania are
the following:
y Regulation (EU) no. 1.001/2017 of the European Parliament and of the Council on the European Union trade mark; and
y Council Regulation (EC) no. 6/2002 on Community designs.

3.7. COMPETITIVE ENVIRONMENT AND OTHER REGULATIONS
The Romanian competitive environment registered a development with the accession to the European Union. Thus,
competition-specific legislation is strongly anchored to European standards: the substantive analysis framework, secon
dary regulations and enforcement practices are largely in line with the European legislative model.
The relevant national legislation is the Competition Law no. 21/1996, republished, as subsequently amended and
supplemented, as well as the secondary regulations issued by the Competition Council. This is an autonomous body that
manages and enforces the Competition Law and aims to protect, maintain and stimulate competition and a normal
competitive environment in order to promote the interests of consumers10. The competition law applies, subject to certain
conditions, to all companies in relation with activities carried out in Romania or outside Romania, if these activities have
an impact on competition.

10 http://www.consiliulconcurentei.ro/despre-noi/descrierea-consiliului-concurentei/rolul/
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Regarding state aid, the main document governing national procedures in this area is Government Emergency Ordinance
no. 77/2014, subsequently amended and supplemented.
The competition law applies to all actions and facts that have the purpose of or result in restricting, preventing or distorting
the competition on the Romanian market, committed by undertakings or associations of enterprises (natural or legal
persons of Romanian or foreign nationality) or by authorities and institutions of central or local public administration. In
short, Competition Law prohibits:
y anti-competitive agreements;
y abuse of a dominant position;
y economic concentrations creating or strengthening a dominant position;
y any actions of central or local government bodies which have the purpose of or result in restricting, preventing or
distorting competition, in particular by:
○ taking decisions restricting the freedom of trade or the autonomy of enterprises;
○ establishing discriminatory conditions for the activity of enterprises.

þ Anti-competitive agreements
According to Art. 5 par. (1) of the Competition Law, any agreements between enterprises, decisions of associations of
enterprises and concerted practices, which have the purpose of or result in restricting, preventing or distorting the
competition on the Romanian market or in part thereof are prohibited. The most common and investigated anticompetitive agreements are the cartels, which can be defined as secret agreements concluded between competing
economic operators, which have the purpose of setting prices, production limitation, market sharing, costumer and
territory allocation etc.

þ Abuse of a dominant position
According to Art. 6 of the Competition Law, the abusive by one or more enterprises of a dominant position held on the
Romanian market or in a substantial part thereof by resorting to anti-competitive acts which have the purpose of or may
result in affecting economic activity or harming consumers is prohibited. Such abusive practices may consist, in particular,
in the imposition of sales price, tariffs, refusal to deal with certain economic operators, limitation of production.

þ Economic concentrations
Also, according to the same legislative act, economic concentrations which can significantly impede effective competition
on the Romanian market or part of it, especially as a result of the creation or consolidation of a dominant position, are
prohibited. The following categories of transactions are covered by the concept of economic concentration: mergers,
acquisitions and the creation of concentrative joint ventures. Concentrations for which the turnover of the enterprises
involved exceeds the value threshold stated by law have to be reported to the Competition Council.
The different acts of unfair competition are governed by Law no. 11/1991 on combating unfair competition, as
subsequently amended and supplemented. This legislation includes clauses on the misuse of trade names, trade secrets,
packaging materials and other owned assets.
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CHAPTER 4.
SETTING-UP A BUSINESS IN ROMANIA
4.1. FORMS OF BUSINESS ORGANISATION
As previously stated, in Romania the primary legislation on companies is Law no. 31/1990, according to which the following
types of companies may be incorporated:
y general partnerships;
y limited partnerships;
y share companies;
y limited partnerships with share capital; and
y limited liability companies.
Limited liability companies and share companies are the most common which is why we will analyse them in detail.

þ Limited liability company
This type of company may be constituted by act of will of one or more individuals. In the limited liability company,
the number of associates cannot exceed 50. The share capital of such a company must be paid in full on the date of
incorporation of the subscribed share capital, the Companies Law does not provide for a minimum share capital, and it is
divided into equal shares, which may not be less than 1 RON. Shares can be transferred among associates, but cannot be
represented by negotiable securities. The transfer of shares has to be registered in the Trade Registry and the company`s
registry of associates.
Each share gives the right to one vote.
When within a limited liability company, the shares belong to one individual, the amount of the contribution in kind will
be established based on specialized expertise. This individual, as single associate, has the rights and obligations under the
Company Law, to the general meeting of the shareholders. If he is an administrator, the associate also has the obligations
stated by law for this position.
The shareholders` decisions shall be taken at the general meeting.
The company is managed by one or more managers, associates or not, appointed by the instrument of incorporation or
by the general assembly. The managers have the obligation to convene the shareholders` meeting at the registered office
at least once a year or as often as is necessary.
The General Assembly of Associates has the following main obligations:
y to approve the annual financial statement and establish the distribution of the net profit;
y to appoint managers and censors, to remove/dismiss and discharge them from their duties, as well as to decide to
contract the financial audit, when this is not mandatory according to the law;
y decide to pursue managers and censors for damages caused to the company, also appointing the individual responsible
to exert this obligation;
y to amend the articles of association.
It should also be noted that the associates in the limited liability company are accountable only within the limits of the
subscribed share capital. The company has to keep a register of associates maintained by the managers which will contain,
as the case may be, surname and forename, position, residence or registered office of every associate, his share capital,
transfer of shares or any other amendment relating thereto.
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þ Joint-stock company
A joint-stock company is constituted by articles of incorporation and statutes. The establishment of this type of company
implies the existence of at least two shareholders and a share capital of at least 90,000 RON, divided into shares. According
to the law, the government will be able to change, at least every two years, the minimum value of the share capital, taking
into account the exchange rate, so that this amount represents the equivalent in RON of the amount of EUR 25,000.
The shares, depending on the way they are transferred, may be registered shares or bearer shares, and their nominal
value cannot be less than 0.1 RON. Any paid share shall give the right to a vote at the general meeting, unless provided
otherwise in the articles of incorporation. In addition, a share also provides other rights to its holder, such as the right to
be informed, preferential share subscription, the receipt of dividends and the right to oppose the company`s decisions.
Preference shares with priority dividends with no voting rights may also be issued, which grants the holder:
y the right to a priority dividend paid from the distributable profit of the financial year, prior to any other payments;
y the rights granted to ordinary shareholders, including the right to participate in the general meeting, excluding the
right to vote.
The joint-stock company shall be constituted by the full and simultaneous subscription of the share capital by the
signatories of the articles of incorporation or by public subscription. The share capital paid upon formation by full and
simultaneous subscription may not be less than 30% of that subscribed. The difference in subscribed share capital will be
paid up:
y for shares issued for a consideration in cash, within 12 months from the company`s registration;
y for shares issued for consideration in kind, no later than after the date of the company`s registration.
The associates are liable within the limits of the consideration subscribed. A joint-stock company is governed by the
general meeting of shareholders which may be ordinary or extraordinary. The ordinary meeting takes place at least once
a year, no later than five months after the end of the financial year, to discuss, approve or amend the annual financial
statements based on the reports presented by the board of directors, the management and the supervisory board, the
censors or, the case may be, the financial auditor, and also to fix the dividend. If necessary, it can also take place on
other occasions, such as the establishment of the revenue and expenditure budget and, where appropriate, the work
programme for the next financial year, the appointment or dismissal of the financial auditor etc. The decisions of the
ordinary general meeting shall be taken by a majority of votes cast.
The management of the joint-stock company shall be provided by one or more directors, one of whom shall be the
general director. Directors may be appointed from among the managers or outside the Board of directors.
The management of the company depends on the system adopted: unitary or dualist. In the unitary system the jointstock company is managed by one or more managers, their number of which is always odd. When there are several
managers, they form a Board of directors. Managers are appointed by the ordinary general meeting of shareholders, with
the exception of the first managers who are appointed through the articles of incorporation. During the performance of
their mandate, managers may not enter into an employment contract with the company, but a mandate.
In the dualist system, the articles of incorporation may stipulate that the joint-stock company is managed by a directorate
and a supervisory board. The Directorate shall exercise its duties under the control of the Supervisory Board. The jointstock companies may issue bonds.

þ Partnership
The partnership is formed by memorandum of association. The associates have the obligation to fully pay in full their
subscribed share capital at the date of the incorporation. Associates in a partnership are unlimitedly jointly and severally
liable for the social obligations and for the operations carried out on behalf of the company by the persons representing
it. The court decision obtained against the company shall be enforceable against each partner.
The right to represents the company belongs to each administrator, apart from a provision to the contrary in the
memorandum of association. The approval of the annual financial statement and for the decisions regarding the
introduction of the operations in the responsibilities of managers shall require the vote of shareholders representing the
majority of share capital.
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þ Limited partnership
This type of company is established by memorandum of association. The contribution must be paid in full on the date
of the formation of the subscribed share capital. General partners are unlimited, jointly and severally liable for social
obligations. The limited partners shall be liable only up to the level of their subscribed share capital.
The management of the limited partnership shall be entrusted to of one or more general partners. The general partner
may conclude transactions on the company`s behalf on the basis of special power of attorney for specified transactions,
given by the company`s representatives and registered in the Trade Registry. None of the associates can take more out
of the company`s funds than has been fixed for the expenses incurred or for those that they are going to make in the
company`s interest.

þ Limited partnership with share capital
The rules applicable to the joint-stock company managed in a single system also apply for this type of organisation. The
main differences are that the company`s obligations are guaranteed by the company`s assets and in the unlimited joint
and several liability of the general partners.
The limited partners shall be liable only up to the level of their subscribed share capital.
The management of the company is entrusted to one or more general partners. They may not take part in deliberations
of general meetings for the elections of the censors or, as case may be, the financial auditor, even if they are shareholders.
The share capital of the joint limited partnership may not be less than 90,000 RON and must be paid up in full on the date
of the formation of the subscribed share capital.

4.2. BRANCHES AND SUBSIDIARIES OF FOREIGN COMPANIES
þ Subsidiaries
The subsidiaries are companies which are established in one of the forms referred to in Art. 2 of the Company Law, as
described above. Thus, the Romanian subsidiary of a foreign company has its own legal status (Romanian), distinct from
the foreign parent company, but is under its control.
Usually, the subsidiary of a foreign company is established in Romania in compliance with the Romanian regulations,
provided that this right is recognized by the law of its organic status to the parent company. The subsidiary established
abroad has its own nationality which is distinct from the company that established it. The subsidiary has its own assets,
delimited in the overall assets of the company, and concludes contracts with third parties in its own name, being also the
holder of one or more of its bank accounts.

þ Branches
According to Art. 43 of the Company Law, branches are enterprises without legal personality of the companies and are
registered, before starting their begins, in the Trade Registry of the county they will operate. The organic status of the
branch is subject to the national law of the foreign company which established it, identifiable as such by reference to its
registered office. It is classified as secondary offices of foreign companies in Romania.
Although it does not hold its own assets, a branch nevertheless benefits from equity, a mass of assets which is entirely
assigned. It may carry out legal acts only on behalf of the parent company. The Romanian branch of a foreign company
does not have Romanian nationality, but the nationality of the parent company at it is subject to its national law.
The branch is dependent on the parent mainly because it is constituted entirely with capital from the parent. With no
separate assets, the branch does not have its own creditors and debtors, and in legal relations with third parties it acts only
on behalf of the parent company, either on its behalf or in the context of specific commission relationship.
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As mentioned, before starting their activity, branches are registered in the Trade Registry of the county of operation. The
activities of the branch cannot exceed the parent`s scope of business. According to the law, foreign companies that have a
branch in Romania are included in the category of foreign legal persons operating through a permanent registered office
in Romania.
Among other things, the following documents are required for establishing a branch:
y the articles of association and the statute of the foreign legal entity, together with all the amendments to these
documents or updated articles of association;
y documents certifying the registered office of the foreign legal person, its scope of business and, at least annually,
the value of the subscribed capital, in the case of branches of the legal person that are located in states outside the
European Union or participating in the European Economic Area;
y a certificate, in certified translation, from the registry where the foreign legal person is registered, certifying the
existence of the company
y annually, the financial statements of the foreign legal person, approved, verified and published according to the
legislation of the country where its registered office is located, which will be subject to the same disclosure formalities
required for the financial statements of Romanian legal entities;
y the financial statements of the foreign legal person, audited and published according to the legislation of the Member
State governing the foreign legal person, if the foreign legal person opening a branch in Romania has its registered
office in a Member State of the European Union;
y the financial statements of the foreign economic operator, audited and published according to Romanian law, unless
the law governing the foreign legal person provides accounting rules equivalent to those in force in the European
Union, if the foreign legal person opening a branch in Romania is not governed by the law of a European Union or
Economic European Area Member State;
y proof for the registered office of the branch;
y information on the criminal record, for the persons authorized to represent the branch, or authentic declarations;
y the identity documents of the persons empowered to represent the branch, in copies certified by the parties;
y the standard declaration on one`s own responsibility regarding the fulfilment of the conditions of operation /
development of the activity, in original.

þ Representatives
A representative is a secondary office of the foreign parent company, without its own legal personality, which does not
have separate capital from the one of the parents and can only perform operations with the aim of representing the latter
in relation with its Romanian trading partners. The representative offices do not have equity, but only assets necessary to
carry out representation activities in the country.
According to the Romanian legislation, representative offices are not registered in the Trade Registry. However, the
establishment procedure for representative offices in Romania is subject to Romanian law and consists of an application
for the operating license. Usually, the license is issued for a calendar year, i.e. by 31st December of the year in which it was
issued. The license may be renewed at the end of the validity period at the request of the parent company.
Regarding taxation, representative offices are subject to special provisions according to which they are required to pay
annually a tax of 18,000 RON (approximately EUR 4,000), at the exchange rate of the day on which the payment is made.
According to Romanian legislation, a representative office ceases to operate in three situations:
y the operating license is withdrawn by the relevant Ministry before the expiry of the validity for the following reasons:
○ the Romanian legal provisions of public order are violated by the staff of the representative office;
○ exceeding the scope of business established by the license;
○ non-compliance with tax obligations;

y the parent company ceases to operate; or
y the parent company, on its own initiative, terminate representative office`s activity.
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4.3. SETTING-UP A BUSINESS. FORMALITIES
The purpose of any activity is to make a profit. As it is well known, first and foremost it is important to develop a business
plan by a specialist who knows the regulations in force in Romania (preferably an economist or an expert accountant).
It should be established from the start in what form will the future company operate in Romania (subsidiary, branch or
representative office, which have already been detailed in the previous chapter). If the intention is to establish a company
with legal personality in Romania, in most cases that will be a limited liability company. We would point out that in this
case no minimum share capital is provided, as opposed to the one required in the case of joint-stock companies, which is
at least 90,000 RON.
The next step is finding a name for the company and reserved it at the Trade Registry. The procedure consists of filling
an Application for checking the availability and/or reserving a company name. Three company names are established in the
order of preference. If the first name is already used, the second one will be verified and then, if appropriate, the third one.

þ Share capital
The share capital is the company` investment or starting capital. The share in the share capital influences the associates`
participation in the company`s benefits or in covering its losses, without this being conclusive. According to the Company
Law, in the case of limited liability companies, the full payment of the subscribed share capital is mandatory at the date
of incorporation. In the case of companies established with a single associate, if there are contributions in kind, the
appointment by the director of the Trade Registry Office at the court and/or the persons appointed by an accountant for
their evaluation shall be requested in advance. The application shall be submitted to the National Trade Register Office.

þ Registered office
Every company must have a registered office. It does not always represent the place of business, which can be organized,
after the company have been set up, in another location, which will be declared as place of business. Moreover, it is not
mandatory that the registered office to be considered the office for tax purposes. However, these issues arise after the
actual establishment of the company.
A registered office may also consist of a rented space from a third party or even from one, two or more of the owners`
associates. Last but not least, the company`s office can be considered as the space to be made as a contribution in kind to
the establishment of the company, this case being rarely encountered in practice. The proof for the registered office shall
be made with copies of the documents underlying the use (the bailment agreement, rental agreement). If the space used
as a registered office has more than one owner, the written consent of the co-owners will be required.
According to Order no. 492/C-205/2012 of the Ministry for Justice and the President of NAFA for the approval of the
application and issue procedure, in electronic format, of the certificate regarding on the registration of the document
certifying the right to use the space for the registered office and the certificate for the place for the registered office, it is
mandatory to have the certificate for the space intended as registered office and to register the document certifying the
right to use the space intended for the registered office. Therefore, the conclusion of the bailment or rental agreement
must be followed by its registration with the National Agency of Fiscal Administration, which is a prerequisite for obtaining
the certificate mentioned above.

þ The company`s management
Another important aspect is appointing a manager among the associates. There is also the possibility for the appointed
manager to be a third party, without participation in the establishment of the new company. As mentioned above, the
joint-stock company is managed by one or more managers, the number of which is always odd. When there are several
managers, they constitute a Board of directors. The joint-stock companies whose annual financial statements are subject
to a legal auditing obligation are managed by at least three managers.
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þ Total tax
The total tax defines the company`s permanent tax obligations. Detailed information on the tax rules applicable to
Romanian companies can be found in the chapter on taxation. As a rule, if the company has a turnover less than EUR
1,000,000, the tax will be calculated on the basis of the income realised. Once this threshold is exceeded, the profit
obtained will be taxed.
If the company will have employees, since its establishment it can opt for including the income taxes, the levies and
contributions into the total tax. Depending on the activity performed by the company, excise duty, tax on crude oil from
internal production, gambling tax, mining or oil royalties also be due.
Regarding the added value tax, the associates can opt to set up a non-taxable or a tax paying company. This option is valid
as long as the turnover of the company does not exceed 300,000 RON. Once this threshold is exceeded, the company has
the obligation to register as a taxable person for VAT if it has been untaxable.

þ The company`s articles of incorporation
If the company is established by the act of will of one individual, it is mandatory to prepare the articles of association. If two
or more associates participate in the formation of the company, it is mandatory to prepare both the articles of association
and the memorandum of association, which can be concluded in the form of a single document known as articles of
incorporation. The designation of articles of incorporation may also be used where only the articles of association or the
memorandum of association are concluded. In cases where those two represents separate acts, the articles of association
will include the identification data of the associates and clauses governing the organisation, operation and conduct of
the company`s activity.
The memorandum of association is in fact the agreement of the parties particularly related to the contribution of each
associate and the share in terms of benefits/losses resulting from the company`s business. The articles of incorporation
is concluded under private signature, signed by all associates or, in the case of public subscription, by the founders. The
authentic form of the articles of association is mandatory where assets subscribed for as a contribution to the share capital
include a land. The articles of incorporation acquire a firm date by submitting it to the Trade Register Office.
There is no standardised form of the company`s articles of incorporation, but the Company Law requires a minimum
amount of information, namely:
y the identification data of the associates. For the limited partnerships, the general partners will also be presented;
y form, name and registered office;
y the company` scope of business, specifying the main field and activity;
y share capital, including the contribution of each associate, in cash or in kind, the value of the contribution in kind and
the method of assessment. For limited liability companies, the number and the nominal value of the shares and the
number of shares allocated to each associate for his contribution shall be indicated;
y the associates representing and managing the company or the managers who are not associates, their identification
data, the powers conferred to them and whether they will exert those powers jointly or separately;
y in the case of limited liability companies, if there are censors or a financial auditor appointed, the identification data of
the first censors, or the first financial auditor respectively;
y the share of benefits and losses for each associate;
y secondary offices – branches, agencies, representative offices or other similar units without legal status –, when
established with the company, or the conditions for their subsequent establishment, if such action is considered;
y the duration of the company;
y the way of dissolution and liquidation of the company.
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þ Proof of the capital share deposit
Before initiating the registration procedures with the Trade Register, it is necessary that the associates pay their
corresponding contributions to the capital share, according to the agreement which formed the basis for the drafting of
the articles of incorporation. The cash contribution to the share capital can be paid at any banking institution.

þ Tax clearance certificates
In order to establish a company, the tax clearance certificates are required for the associates or legal representatives of
the company, who have the domicile/residence/registered office in Romania, or for foreign natural or legal persons who
have this status and are registered for tax purposes in Romania, or the authentic affidavit on honour, of the natural person
who is a foreign citizen on his own name or as a representative of the foreign legal person, which is not registered for
tax purposes in Romania, which certifies that they do not have any tax liabilities, and, where applicable, the translation
provided by an authorised translator whose signature is legalised by a notary public.

þ The specimen signature
According to the law, representatives of a company, managers, managers of the branch are required to submit their
signatures to the National Trade Register Office. The submission of the specimen signature is done by filling a standard
form. In order to prove the specimen of signature, the person concerned will sign in the presence of the delegated judge
or the head of office or his replacement, who will certify the signature.
In the absence of the signatory, a specimen certified by the notary public may be presented.

þ Submission of the file to the National Trade Register Office
After completion of the previous steps, the file which will be submitted to the National Trade Register Office is filled, in
order to register in the trade register, for tax purposes and to authorise the operation of the company. In order to identify
all documents necessary to prepare a complete file, the website of the National Trade Register Office – www.onrc.ro,
should be consulted.

þ Accounting obligations			
According to Law no. 82/1991, republished, subsequently amended and supplemented, the obligation to organise and
manage their own accounts applies to autonomous municipal companies, companies, public institutions, cooperative
companies, associations and other legal persons, as well as natural persons acting in a trader capacity. The responsibility for
organising and keeping the accounts is assigned to the manager or other individuals responsible for assets management.
In this regard, we recommend companies to resort to call on an expert accountant member of the Body of Expert and
Licensed Accountants of Romania (CECCAR), entity which manages the accounting profession in the public interest.

þ Audit of financial statements
The financial statements of companies subject to the legal obligation of auditing will be audited by financial auditors –
natural or legal persons, under the terms required by the accounting regulations in force. For companies whose annual
financial statements are not subject to the financial audit according to the law, the ordinary general meeting of the
shareholders can decide to contract the financial audit or appoint censors, as case may be. The joint-stock company shall
have an odd number of censors, at least three, unless a higher number is provided in the articles of incorporation, and one
alternate. Censors are elected by the shareholders` general meeting. Their term of office shall be three years and may be
re-elected.

4.4. FACILITIES AND SUBSIDIES
According to Romanian legislation, companies employing certain categories of individuals may receive various facilities
and subsidies.
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þ Tax incentives
According to Law no. 227/2015 on the Fiscal Code, subsequently amended and supplemented, certain categories of
employees are exempted from the payment of income tax, which usually represents a tax relief for the by reducing costs.
Thus, the category of exempt includes:
y natural persons carrying out computer program development activities;
y natural persons carrying out research and development and innovation activities;
y natural persons carrying out seasonal activities under an individual employment contract effective for a period of
12 months;
y individuals with severe or pronounced disability;
y natural persons who are employed in companies active in the construction field.

þ Incentives for the employment of high school and university students
According to Law no. 72/2007 on stimulating the employment of pupils and students, subsequently amended, the
employer who employs pupils and students during their holidays benefit from a monthly financial incentive for each of
them. The incentive shall be granted at the employer`s request, and the maximum period for which it can be granted it
shall be of 60 working days in a calendar year.

þ Employment incentives for unemployed individuals by subsidising jobs
According to Law no. 76/2002 on the unemployment insurance system and employment stimulation, as subsequently
amended and supplemented, labour expenditure may be subsidised if these are undertaken within the performance
of programmes that aim to achieve the temporary employment among unemployed individuals, for the undertaking of
work and activities of interest for local communities. Therefore, the following categories of services may be subsidised:
y public services for infrastructure restoration and maintenance, greening and building works, organised by local public
authorities, private companies or non-governmental organisations, with the approval of the local public administration;
y social services that include home care activities for children, sick, elderly or disabled individuals, organised by local
public authorities, non-governmental organisations and other entities, in accordance with the law.
The subsidies are granted to employers that have been allocated contracts effective for a period not exceeding 12 months
for each employed individual, among the unemployed, with an individual fixed-term employment contract of not more
than 12 months.
Employers who employ, for an indefinite period, graduates from educational institutions receive a monthly incentive
for a period of 12 months, depending on the last education cycle completed by the employee. Employers who employ
permanently graduated students from persons with disabilities shall receive a monthly incentive for each graduate for a
period of 18 months. The amount of the incentive is often set annually.
Employers who employ, for an indefinite period, unemployed individuals over the age of 45 or unemployed individuals
who are single parents shall receive a monthly financial incentive for a period of 12 months, provided that they maintain
the employment or services contract for at least 18 months. The amount of the incentive is also often set annually.
At the same time, employers who employ, according to the law, unemployed individuals who, within five years from the
date of employment, meet the conditions for retirement, shall benefit from a financial incentive during the period of
employment, until the date of fulfilment of the conditions for retirement. Here too, the value of the incentive is often set
annually.
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CHAPTER 5.
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCE
5.1. ACCOUNTING IN ROMANIA AND THE ACCOUNTING LAW
Over the last decades, Romanian accounting has been subject to a continuous change process in order to improve,
simplify and adapt it to the requirements of the economic environment, as well as to achieve harmonisation with European
directives and international standards.
The main legislative act governing the accounting system is the Accounting Law no. 82/1991, republished, as subsequently
amended and supplemented. In the period after the publication of this law, a number of legislative acts were adopted to
harmonise the national legislation with the European and international legislation. Presently, most companies apply the
accounting regulations on separate annual financial statements and consolidated annual financial statements approved
by Order no. 1802/2014 of the Minister for Public Finances, as subsequently amended and supplemented, which transposes
the provisions of Directive 2013/34/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council. A much smaller number of
companies, mainly those whose securities are admitted for transactions on a regulated market, apply accounting
regulations compliant with International Financial Reporting Standards, approved by Order no. 2844/2016 of the Minister
of Public Finance, as subsequently amended and supplemented.
Those regulations apply together with the Accounting Law, as well as other applicable legal provisions, in order to ensure
a high degree of transparency and comparability of the annual financial statements.
According to the Accounting Law, the companies, associations and other legal persons, with or without profit making
purposes, are required to organise and conduct double-entry financial accounting and to prepare the annual financial
statements, according to the applicable accounting regulations.
sub-units without legal personality in Romania which belong to a legal person with the registered office abroad have the
obligation to organise and manage their accounts without preparing annual financial statements for their activity.
Natural persons who carry-out income-producing activities, as defined by the Fiscal Code, whose revenues are established
on earnings basis are required to carry out the accounting on the basis of the rules of single-entry accounting or, at their
option, on the basis of the double-entry accounting rules.
The accounts are kept in Romanian and in national currency. Except for transactions carried out in foreign currency, the
accounting for which is kept both in national currency and in foreign currency.
The holding, under any title, of assets and liabilities and the performance of economic and financial operations, without
being recorded in the accounts, is prohibited.
Accounting is usually organised and managed in separate compartments, headed by the Chief Financial Officer, chief
accountant or other person with a mandate to perform this function, or by outsourcing, based on service contracts in the
field of accounting, concluded with natural or legal persons members of the Body of Expert and Licensed Accountants of
Romania.

5.2. CECCAR AND THE ROLE OF THE EXPERT ACCOUNTANT AND THE 		
LICENSED ACCOUNTANT
The accounting profession in Romania is regulated by Government Ordinance no. 65/1994 on the organization of the
accounting expertise and licensed accountants’ activity, republished, as subsequently amended and supplemented. With
a century history, the Body of Expert and Licensed Accountants of Romania is the body that manages the accounting
profession in our country. Non-profit professional organisation, with the status of legal entity of public and autonomous
interest, CECCAR is represented in all Romanian counties through territorial branches.
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CECCAR is the only competent authority that organises and monitors the activity of expert accountants and licensed
accountants, as well as the accounting and accounting expertise companies. The Body supports and promotes highquality professional practices through particular care for the competence, skills and ethics of those involved in the
profession and for their compliance with the principal of professional independence and the training requirements
imposed by the pronouncements.
With international and European recognition certified by its membership of important international and continental
entities, CECCAR aims at the professional development of its members so they serve the public interest and laid the
foundations for a sound and progress-oriented economy. Through the activity of its members, CECCAR supports the
expression of entrepreneurial skills and contributes to ensuring a favourable business climate for the small and mediumsized entities in Romania.
According to the Romanian legislation, the annual financial statements and accounting reports of the legal persons are
signed by the Chief Financial Officer, the chief accountant or other person with a mandate to perform this function or they
may be prepared and signed by natural or legal persons authorised under the law, members of the Body of Expert and
Licensed Accountants of Romania.
In this regard, we review the responsibilities of expert and licensed accountant, established in accordance with the law.
Thus, the expert accountant ensures:
y organisation, management, keeping, verification and supervision of accounting;
y tax and representation services in relation with tax authorities;
y preparing and signing the financial statements;
y services specific to management accounting and integrated reporting;
y financial-accounting expertise, including the ones with a tax component;
y electronic personnel records and payroll;
y economic and financial analysis and assessments;
y financial-accounting management and economic performance;
y consultancy in financial management and accounting;
y internal management control;
y risk management for legal persons;
y specialized assistance for company establishment/reorganization.
Regarding licensed accountants, they ensure the preparation of the work in order to prepare the financial statements,
keeping accounts of economic and financial operations, activities related to electronic personnel records and payroll.

5.3. ANNUAL ACCOUNTING AND OTHER REPORTING FILLING OBLIGATIONS
The Ministry of Finance develops and issues regulations and pronouncements in the field of accounting, the general chart
of accounts, the models for the financial statements, the registers and the common forms relating to the financial and
accounting activity, the methodological rules for their preparation and use.
Legal persons applying accounting regulations compliant with the European directives prepare annual financial
statements which contain the features appropriate for the category they fit in. Classification in a category is based on the
assessment of three criteria: total assets, net turnover and number of employees. Thus, there are as follows:
y micro-entities, which prepare an abridged balance sheet and profit and loss account;
y small entities, with a set consisting of an abridged balance sheet, profit and loss account and notes to the annual
financial statements; and
y medium-sized and large entities, preparing the balance sheet, profit and loss account, statement of changes in equity,
cash flow statement and notes to the annual financial statements.
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Non-profit legal entities prepare annual financial statements which consist of balance sheet and income statement.
A parent has is required to prepare consolidated annual financial statements when the criteria for the classification as
large groups stated in the accounting regulations are exceeded, as well as in the case of small and medium-sized groups
within which one of the affiliated entities is a public-interest entity.
The annual financial statements constitute a whole and are accompanied by the management report, the audit report, or
the report of the censors` commission, as appropriate, and the proposal to distribute the profit or cover the losses.
For the annual financial statements of public interest legal persons there is an obligation to be audited.
The Ministry of Public Finance can establish the preparation and submission to its territorial units of financial statements or
accounting reports and periods other than annual, within the financial year. For example, companies that in the previous
financial year had a net turnover higher than the RON equivalent of 1,000,000 euro are required to submit quarterly
accounting reports on 30 June.

þ Financial year
The financial year is the 12-month period for which the annual financial statements need be prepared, and usually coinci
des with the calendar year. It may be different from the calendar year for branches with offices in Romania which belong
to a legal person with offices abroad, as well as for the legal persons having their registered offices in Romania that choose
to do so.
Persons who have a financial year other than the calendar year must also prepare and submit annual accounting reports,
in addition to the annual financial statements.
We remind that, the annual financial statements and accounting reports are signed by the Chief Financial Officer, the
chief accountant or other person empowered to perform this function or may be prepared and signed by natural or legal
persons authorised under the law, members of the Body of Expert and Licensed Accountants of Romania. They are also
signed by the manager or the person responsible for managing the entity.

5.4. BANKING SYSTEM IN ROMANIA
As previously mentioned, the Romanian banking system has a very good yield and liquidity which, allowed it to absorb,
over time, the various economic shocks and remain relatively stable. The profitability of the system suffered a significant
pressure in the recent years, as loans have increased drastically, and credit growth slowed considerably as a consequence
of a significant contraction in economic activity and increased banks` aversion to risk as a result of several years of rapid
credit growth. In the short to medium term, the stability of the Romanian banking system depends on the banks` ability
to monitor and strengthen the quality of the loan portfolios, as well as on the commitment of their associates to maintain
adequate levels of funding and capital.
The National Bank of Romania has an inherent role in maintaining financial stability, given the responsibilities resulting
from its double position – as monetary and prudential authority. The responsibilities that fall under the objectives for
financial stability are exercised both through the regulation and prudential supervision of institutions under its authority,
and by efficiently formulating and conveying monetary policy measures and by supervising the optimal functioning of
systemically important payment and settlement systems. It is also necessary to identify the risks and vulnerabilities of the
entire financial system, as a whole and on its components, as monitoring of financial stability is preventive. The emergence
and development of malfunctions, such as incorrect risk assessment and inefficiency of capital allocation, may affect the
stability of the financial system and economic stability.
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5.5. BANKING INSTITUTIONS AND THE OPERATIONS PERFORMED
There are more than 30 commercial banks operating in Romania. The largest is Banca Transilvania, which has a market
share of 19.5%. The second largest is Romanian Commercial Bank (BCR), with a market share of 14.07%, followed by the
Romanian Development Bank (BRD – Société Générale) (10.45%), ING Bank (9.25%) and Raiffeisen Bank (9.24%). The only
remaining state-owned banks are CEC Bank and EximBank, which comprise 8.3% of the market.
Mainly, Romanian banking institutions are involved in activities of accepting deposits and other repayable funds, loans,
among which there are consumer credits, mortgage loans, factoring with or without recourse, financing of commercial
transactions, financial leasing, payment services, issuance and management of means of payment, such as cheques,
promissory notes and similar, trading of financial instruments on own account or on behalf of clients, custody and
management of financial instruments, issuance of electronic money etc.
Banking institutions in Romania cannot perform activities such granting of loans secured by the bank`s own shares,
accepting deposits and other repayable funds when the bank is in insolvency proceedings, pledging of its own shares to
honour its debts, etc.
The oversight of liquidity risk is ensured by the National Bank of Romania. As such, all banks must submit to the BNR the
financial statements and other required data, under the conditions and in the form established by the legal provisions
in force. According to the Romanian banking system, each banking institution must consider limiting the liquidity risk
through various levers at its disposal. Each bank needs to have procedures for monitoring and limiting liquidity risk and
present it to BNR.
As Romania is an EU Member State, any authorised and supervised banking institution in an EU Member State is entitled
to operate in Romania through a branch or the direct provision of services, without being necessary to obtain an
authorisation from BNR, provided that they meet certain notification formalities. Non-EU banking institutions from may
operate in Romanian through subsidiaries or branches which must be authorised in advance by the BNR.
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CHAPTER 6.
TAXATION
6.1. MAIN TAXES AND LEVIES
The Fiscal Code sets the legal framework for:
y taxes, levies and mandatory social contributions which are revenues of the state budget, local budgets, state social
security budget, the budget of the Single National Health Insurance Fund, the unemployment insurance budget and
the guarantee fund for the payment of outstanding wage claims;
y taxpayers who have the obligation to pay these taxes, levies and social contributions;
y the method of calculation and payment of those;
y the procedure for amending them.
The Ministry of Finance develops methodological pronouncements, instructions and orders for the application of the
Fiscal Code and the laws for the ratification of double taxation avoidance conventions in force. At the same time, the
legal framework for the administration of taxes, levies and mandatory social contributions regulated by the Fiscal Code is
established by Law no. 207/2015 on the Code of Fiscal Procedure, as subsequently amended and supplemented.
Regarding the international legislation, the Fiscal Code states that, if any provision of the Code is contrary to a provision of
a treaty to which Romania is part of, the provision of that treaty applies. In the field of valued added tax and excise duties,
tax authorities and other national authorities must take into account the case law of the Court of Justice of the European
Union.

6.2. CORPORATE TAXATION
In Romania, legal persons owe a standard rate of income tax of 16%. This tax is payable by the Romanian legal persons
or having their registered office in Romania, established according to European legislation, on taxable profit obtained
from any source, both in Romania and abroad, as well as by foreign legal persons for taxable income attributable to a
permanent office in Romania.
Not-for-profit organizations have a special regime, being exempted from the payment of the income tax for non-economic
activities and up to maximum EUR 15,000 for their economic activities, but no more than 10% of the total non-taxable
income obtained. Companies carrying out activities such as night bars, night clubs, discotheques, casinos or sports
betting are liable to a tax of at least 5% of the income from these activities, if the income tax due is lower than this level.

þ Fiscal result
As a general rule, fiscal result is calculated as the difference between income and expenses accounted for in a fiscal year,
less non-taxable income and tax deductions, plus non-deductible expenses. In establishing the fiscal result, other items
similar to income and expenses are also taken into account. By detailing the calculation formula based on the additional
information in the relevant legislation and Form 101 ”Corporate income tax statement”, the taxable result is established
as follows:
±

Gross accounting result

+

Items similar to income

+

Items similar to expenses

–

Tax deductions

–

Non-taxable income

+

Non-deductible expenses

–

Reported fiscal loss
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Mainly, all income obtained by an income tax payer is taxable income, with the exception those which are expressly
mentioned in the Fiscal Code as non-taxable. Thus, according to Art. 23 of this legislative act, the following are nontaxable income:
y dividends received from a Romanian legal person;
y dividends received from a foreign legal person, subject to certain conditions (the holding percentage is at least 10% of
the share capital of the legal person that distributes the dividends and the holding period of the securities is at least
one uninterrupted year);
y income from the cancellation, recovery, including re-invoicing of expenses for which there was no deduction, income
from the deduction or cancellation of provisions for which there was no deduction, income from the repayment or
cancellation of interests and/or penalties for which there was no deduction, and income representing the cancellation
of the reserve registered as a result of a contribution in kind in the capital of other legal persons or as a result of an
increase in the share capital in the legal person in which the equity are held.
y income from the evaluation/revaluation/sale/transfer of the equity held in a Romanian legal person or a foreign legal
person located in a state with which Romania has concluded a double taxation avoidance convention, if at the date of
the evaluation/revaluation/sale/transfer including the taxpayer holds for an uninterrupted period of one year at least
10% of the share capital of the legal person in which it has the equity, etc.
In order to establish the taxable profit, it is necessary to determine whether or not an expense is deductible. From a fiscal
point of view, three categories of expenses are distinctively defined:
y deductible;
y with limited deductibility;
y non-deductible.
In order for an expenditure to be deductible, it must meet all of the following conditions:
y there is a causal link between the expenditure and the economic activity;
y it should be based on supporting documents (an essential condition is proving the fact that the expenditure has been
incurred);
y it is not expressly non-deductible by law;
y not to be expressly limited deductible by law.
For expenses with limited deducibility, the following are relevant examples regarding the way in which the deducibility
is limited:
y protocol expense – within the limit of a 2% rate, applied to the accounting result, plus income tax expenses and the
protocol expenses;
y social expenses – within the limit of a 5% rate, applied to the amount of expenses of the personnel` s wages;
y expenses consisting of meal vouchers – for 2022, the limit is of 20.17 RON/day/employee;
y expenses on motorised road vehicles that are not exclusively used for economic activity – within the limit of 50% of
the amount of the expense.
A number of expenses are considered as non-deductible, such as:
y the tax payer`s own expenses with the income tax due;
y expenses related to taxes not retained at source on behalf of non-resident natural and legal persons, for income
obtained in Romania;
y expenses accounted for which are not based on supporting documents;
y non-taxable income expenses;
y expenses on management services, consultancy, assistance services or other provision of services, for which taxpayers
cannot justify their necessity for the purposes of their activities and for which no contracts are concluded;
y write-off losses for the part not covered by the adjustments;
y sponsorship and/or patronage expenses and private scholarship expenses. These expenses are not deductible, but
taxpayers who make such expenses following the legal provisions may deduct them from the income tax due up to
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the minimum of 7.5‰ of turnover and 20% of the income tax due.

þ Tax deductions
Tax deductions are the amounts to be deducted in the calculation of taxable profit and which are not non-taxable income
or deductible expenses accounted for in the period for which the calculation of the income profit is made. According to
the provisions of the Fiscal Code, are considered to be:
y legal reserve;
y interest expenses and costs equivalent to interest in economic terms;
y deductions for research and development expenses;
y tax depreciation.

þ Legal reserve
Under company law, a share of at least 5% will be taken from their profit for the formation of the reserve fund, until it
reaches a minimum of 20% of the share capital. The reserve is calculated cumulatively from the beginning of the year and
deductible in the calculation of the taxable profit on a quarterly or annual basis.

þ Interest expenses and cost equivalent to the interest from an economic perspective
From the point of view of the Fiscal Code, borrowing costs represent the interest expense on all forms of debt and other
costs economically to interest. Excess borrowing costs represent the amount by which the borrowing costs of a taxpayer
exceed the interest income and other economically equivalent income that the taxpayer receives.
According to the Fiscal Code, a taxpayer who is an independent entity, meaning that it is not part of a consolidated group
for financial accounting purposes, and does not have any associate business and or permanent office, can fully deduct the
excess borrowing costs in the fiscal period in which these are incurred.
If the taxpayer is part of a group, the excess borrowing costs may be deducted within the limit of a deductible threshold
represented by the equivalent in RON of the amount of EUR 1,000,000 calculated at the exchange rate communicated by
the National Bank of Romania. If the excess borrowing costs exceed the above threshold, the excess may be deducted
within a limit up to the level of 30% of a calculation basis. This basis is the difference between the income and expenses
accounted for according to the accounting rules applicable in the reference tax period, less non-taxable income and plus
income tax expense, excess borrowing costs, and deductible amounts representing tax depreciation.

þ Deductions for research and development expenses
Where an economic entity performs research and development activities, the following fiscal incentives shall be granted:
y additional deduction in the calculation of the fiscal result of 50%, of the eligible expenses for these activities;
y application of the accelerated depreciation method also to equipment intended for the research and development
activities.

þ Fiscal depreciation
According to the fiscal legislation in force, the following can be used as depreciation methods:
y straight-line depreciation;
y degressive depreciation (possible only for certain assets), calculated by multiplying the straight-line depreciation rates
by a coefficient that varies according to the normal duration of use of the depreciable fixed asset;
y accelerated depreciation (possible only for certain assets), which cannot exceed 50% of the fiscal value for the first year
from the date of entry into the taxpayer` assets of the fixed asset, and for the next years of use, depreciation follows
the straight-line depreciation rule.
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þ Income tax declaration and payment
Declaration and payment of income tax shall be made on a quarterly basis, up to and including the 25th of the first month
following the end of quarters I to III. The establishment and payment of the income tax for a fiscal year is carried out as
follows:
Table 8. The establishment and payment of the income tax for a fiscal year
General rule

By 25th of March, inclusive, of the year following that for
which the tax is calculated

Not-for-profit organizations

By 25th of February inclusive of the following year

Taxpayers that obtain revenues mainly from the cereal
and industrial crops, fruit and wine cultivation
Legal persons dissolved with liquidation the fiscal year

Until the date of the submission of the financial
statements to the competent tax body under
the authority of the National Agency for Fiscal
Administration

Legal persons which dissolve without liquidation during
the fiscal year

Until the end of the taxable period

þ Declaration, withholding and payment of dividend tax
The destination of the accounting profit shall be decided after the general meeting of shareholders or associates who
approved the distribution of profit, by registering the amounts representing dividends due to shareholders or associates,
reserves and other purposes, according to the law. A Romanian legal person paying dividends to another Romanian legal
person has the obligation to withhold, declare and pay dividend tax withheld to the state budget. There is no tax withheld
for dividends paid by a Romanian legal person to another Romanian legal person if the person receiving those holds, on
the date of payment, at least 10% of the shareholdings of the other legal person, for a period of one year completed up
to and including the date of payment. The dividend tax is established by applying a tax rate of 5% to the gross dividend.

þ Transfer pricing
The transactions between affiliated persons are carried out according to the market value principle. The purpose of the
transfer pricing file (DPT) is to document compliance with this pricing in such transactions.
Together with the Fiscal Code, the main legislative act regulating the amount of transactions, the deadlines for prepa
ration, the content and the conditions for requesting the transfer pricing file and the adjustment/estimation procedure
of the transfer prices is Order no. 442/2016 of the President of NAFA.
Table 9. Main thresholds for preparing the transfer pricing file
Types of taxpayers and thresholds

Obligations

Large taxpayers exceeding the materiality threshold of:

Prepare the transfer pricing file.

y ≥ EUR 200,000, for the interests received/paid on financial
services;

Present it at the request of the fiscal inspection
body, throughout a fiscal inspection or outside
a fiscal inspection action.

y ≥ EUR 250,000, for the transactions concerning the provision of
services received/provided;
y ≥ EUR 350,000, for the transactions concerning acquisitions/
sales of tangible or intangible goods.
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Types of taxpayers and thresholds
Large taxpayers not exceeding the value level of the above
materiality threshold, but exceeding:
y ≥ EUR 50,000, for the interests received/paid on financial
services;

Obligations
Prepare and present the transfer pricing file
only at the request of the fiscal body, during the
course of a fiscal inspection.

y ≥ EUR 50,000, for the transactions relating to the provision of
services received/provided;
y ≥ EUR 100,000, for the transactions concerning acquisitions/
sales of tangible or intangible goods.
Small and medium-sized taxpayers exceeding the materiality
threshold of:
y ≥ EUR 50,000, for the interests received/paid on financial
services;

Prepare and present the transfer pricing file
only at the request of the fiscal body, during the
course of a fiscal inspection.

y ≥ EUR 50,000, for the transactions concerning the provision of
services received/provided;
y ≥ EUR 100,000, for the transactions relating to acquisitions/
sales of tangible or intangible goods.
Large, small and medium-sized taxpayers not exceeding the
materiality threshold of:
y ≥ EUR 50,000, for the interests received/paid on financial
services;
y ≥ EUR 50,000, for the transactions concerning the provision of
services received/provided;
y ≥ EUR 100,000, for the transactions relating to acquisitions/
sales of tangible or intangible goods.

They are not required to prepare the
transfer pricing file, but they will document
compliance with the market value principle,
within the framework of a fiscal inspection,
according to the general rules provided by the
financial, accounting and fiscal regulations in
force.

þ Micro-entities regime
In order to be classified as micro-entity from a fiscal point of view, a legal person must not have received income
exceeding EUR 1,000,000, its share capital must be held by persons other than the State and local authorities and not
be dissolved with liquidation, registered in the Trade Register or at the courts.
For these entities, taxation is based on to the revenue obtained. The tax rates on the micro-entities` revenues are:
y 1% of revenues for the micro-entities with at least one employee;
y 3% of revenues for the micro-entities with no employees.
A micro-entity becomes a corporate tax payer if in the course of a tax year generates income greater than EUR 1,000,000.
The calculation and payment of income tax shall be made from the quarter in which the limit was exceeded, taking into
account the income and expenses realised from the quarter in question.
Micro-entities are required to declare and pay income tax on a quarterly basis, up to and including the 25th, of the first
month following the quarter for which the tax is calculated.

þ Special regime for tourism companies (specific tax)
This tax is payable by companies which have as their primary or secondary activity one or more of the activities
corresponding to NACE codes 5510 – ”Hotels and similar accommodation”, 5520 – ”Accommodation facilities for holidays
short periods”, 5530 – ”Camping grounds, recreational vehicle parks and trailer parks”, 5590 – ”Other accommodation
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services”, 5610 – ”Restaurants”, 5621 – ”Event catering and other food service activities”, 5629 – ”Other food service
activities”, 5630 – ”Bars and other beverage serving activities”.
Micro-entities do not apply this tax.
The special regime implies that entities operating in these fields will be liable for a tax calculated in a different way than
those presented above. Thus:
y Restaurants – depending on the rank of the locality where they are located, the commercial/ serving /operating area
(which represents the sum of the areas of the saloons, terraces and summer gardens, according to the classification/
authorisation certificate) and a coefficient of seasonality;
y Bars – depending on the rank of the locality where they are located, the commercial area/ serving/operating area and
a coefficient of seasonality;
y Hotels are liable for a tax on the place of accommodation/year, corresponding to the category and/or the type of
tourist accommodation mentioned in the classification certificate.
Those who pay this tax are required to declare and pay income tax every six months, up to and including the 25th of the
first month following the semester for which it is calculated.

6.3. PERSONAL INCOME TAXATION
All resident individual (Romanian or foreign) who earn income on the territory of Romania and/or abroad under certain
conditions, are liable to tax. According to Art. 7 para. 28 of the Fiscal Code, a resident natural person is any natural person
who fulfils at least one of the following conditions:
y has the domicile in Romania;
y the centre of the person`s vital interest is located in Romania;
y is present in Romania for a period or periods exceeding a total of 183 days over any period of 12 consecutive months
ending in the calendar year concerned;
y is a Romanian citizen working abroad, as an official or an employee of Romania in a foreign state.
The main categories of taxable income in Romania are from:
y independent activities;
y intellectual property rights;
y salaries;
y rental and leasing of goods;
y investments (dividends, interests etc.);
y pensions;
y agricultural activities;
y prizes and gambling;
y the transfer of real estate properties;
y other revenues.
The standard tax rate is 10%.

þ Taxation of revenues from salaries
According to the Romanian legislation, all income in cash and/or in kind obtained by a resident or non-resident natural
person performing an activity based on an individual employment contract are considered to be income from salaries.
These revenues are deemed as taxable. At the same time, benefits received in relation to the activity performed, such as
the following, are also considered as taxable such as: usage of any goods (including a vehicle of any kind) from among
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the assets of the business for personal purposes, accommodation, food, clothing, staff for housekeeping, as well as other
goods or services offered free of charge or at a price lower than the market price, subscriptions and the cost of telephone
calls used for personal purposes, travel permits on any means of transport, gift vouchers granted according to the law,
except meal vouchers, holiday and nursery vouchers, granted within the law etc.
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There are also amounts that are not included in the revenues from salaries and are not taxable, such as: funeral aid, aid
for losses incurred within households as a result of natural disasters, aid for severe and terminal diseases, birth aid, meal
rights granted by employers to employees compliant with the e legislation in force, the value of the use of the work
accommodation, the value of technical, personal protective and work equipment, etc.

þ

Mandatory social contributions for taxpayers obtaining revenues from salaries

The mandatory contributions payable according to the law are:
y social security contribution (CAS), representing 25% of gross income;
y social health insurance contribution (CASS), representing 10% of gross income.

þ

Tax rate of income from salaries and effective taxation

The tax rate is 10% and applies to a taxation basis calculated by deducting from gross wage income the following:
y mandatory social contributions;
y personal deduction, if any;
y contribution to the private pension funds (within the limit of EUR 400 annually);
y contribution to voluntary health insurance premiums, as well as medical services provided in the form of subscription
(up to a maximum of EUR 400 annually);
y union membership fee.
According to the legislation in our country, the tax and the mandatory social contributions are withheld by the employers
and paid by them to the state budget.

þ

Taxation of revenues from independent activities

The revenues from independent activities includes commercial income and income from liberal professions, earned
individually and/or in a form of association with natural persons. Income earned by natural persons from trading actions,
from provision of services and production activities are considered as commercial income.
The tax is at a rate of 10%, and the taxable amount is the net income from independent activities, which is determined
as the difference between the gross income (taxable earnings) and the deductible expenses (payments) made for the
purpose of generating income. For certain independent activities, other than those from liberal professions, annual net
income can be determined based on the income standards established by the Ministry of Finance.

þ

The taxation of income from intellectual property rights

Taxation of income from intellectual property rights represents the total cash receipts and/or the equivalent in RON of
the revenues in kind obtained from intellectual property rights. The tax rate is at the rate of 10%, and the tax base is the
net income from the intellectual property rights, including the creation of monumental art works, which is established by
deducting from gross income the expenses determined by applying the 40% rate to the gross revenue.

þ

Taxation of income from disposal of property

The revenues from the disposal of the property, in cash and/or in kind, resulting from the disposal and use of movable or
immovable property, obtained by the owner, the beneficial owner or other legal holder. The tax rate is at a rate of 10%, and
the taxable amount is the net income from the disposal of the use of property. The net income from the disposal and use
of property is established by deducting from the gross income the expenses determined by applying the 40% rate on the
gross income.
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þ

Taxation of investment income

Investment income includes income from dividends, interests, gains on transfer of securities and any other transactions
with financial instruments, including derivatives.
Income in the form of dividends, including the gains obtained as a result of holdings of shares as defined by the legislation
on collective investment undertakings, is taxed at a rate of 5% of the amount, the tax being final. The obligation to calculate
and withhold the tax on income in the form of dividends is assigned to legal persons, with the payment of dividends/
amounts representing the gain obtained from the holding of equity by shareholders/associates/investors. The deadline
for the payment of the tax is up to and including the 25th, of the month following that in which the payment is made. The
tax due is paid in full to the State budget.
The income in the form of interest for demand deposits/ current accounts, as well as on customer deposits, established
under the legislation on savings and collective lending for the housing sector, is imposed at a rate of 10% of their amount,
the tax being final. The tax is calculated and withheld by the payers of such income.
Regarding the gains from the transfer of securities, the tax is 10%, applied to the value of the gains obtained by the in
vestor.

þ

Taxation of income from prizes and gambling

Revenues from prizes includes revenue from competitions, as well as from the promotion of products/services as a result
of commercial practices. The tax due for the revenues from prizes is 10%. The first 600 RON are non-taxable revenue.
Revenues from gambling include all amounts received, goods and services received as a result of participation in gambling.
The tax is determined based on the table below:
Table 10. Taxation of gambling income
Gross income tranches

Tax

Up to and including 66,750 RON

1%

Over 66,750 RON and up to including 445,000 RON

667.5 RON + 16% for exceeding 66,750 RON

Over 445,000 RON

61,187.5 RON + 25% for exceeding 445,000 RON

þ

Taxation of income from the transfer of real estate properties

When transferring ownership of buildings of any kind and related land, as well as on land of any kind without construction,
taxpayers owe a tax that is calculated by applying of 3% rate on what exceeds 450,000 RON. In other words, no real estate
property below this threshold is taxed.

þ

Social contributions

For income from independent activities and from intellectual property rights cumulatively exceeding the threshold of
12 national minimum gross salaries, the natural person owes a social security contribution at a rate of 25% applied to this
threshold. In other words, the social security contribution is capped at this level.
For income from independent activities, intellectual property rights, disposal of the use of goods investments, agricultural
activities, forestry, fisheries and/or other sources cumulatively exceeding the threshold of 12 national minimum gross
salaries, the natural person owes a contribution to social health insurance at a rate of 10% applied to this threshold. Thus,
the social health social insurance contribution is capped at this level.
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6.4. INCOME TAX OF NON-RESIDENTS
According to current legislation, a non-resident is any foreign legal person, any non-resident natural person and any
other foreign entities, including undertaking for collective securities investment in transferable security without legal
personality, which are not registered in Romania. Concerning the non-resident natural person, this is any natural person
that does not fulfil the conditions of a resident person, as well as any foreign citizen natural person with a diplomatic or
consular status in Romania, a foreign citizen who is an official or an employee of an international and intergovernmental
body registered in Romania, a foreign citizen who is an official or an employee of a foreign state in Romania and their
family members.
Non-resident natural persons who obtain taxable income from Romania have the obligation to pay tax on them. According
to Art. 223 of the Fiscal Code, the following revenues are deemed as taxable if they are obtained in Romania, regardless of
whether they are received in Romania or abroad:
y dividends from a resident;
y interests, royalties, fees from a resident or a non-resident who has a permanent office in Romania;
y income from sports and entertainment activities performed in Romania;
y income from the provision of management or consultancy services in any field, if these revenues are obtained from a
resident or if those revenues are expenses of a permanent office in Romania;
y income representing remuneration received by foreign legal persons acting as manager, founder or member in the
Board of directors of a Romanian legal person;
y revenues from services provided in Romania, exclusively the international transport and the services related to this
transport;
y income from prizes awarded at competitions organised in Romania and the income obtained from gambling in
Romania, for all gains received by a participant from a gambling organiser;
y income from independent professions conducted in Romania – doctor, lawyer, engineer, dentist, architect, auditor and
other similar professions – if obtained under conditions other than through a permanent office or during a period or
several periods not exceeding a total of 183 days in any period of 12 consecutive months ending in the calendar year
concerned;
y revenues obtained by non-residents from the liquidation of a Romanian legal person etc.
The tax payable by non-residents is calculated by applying the following rates to gross income:
Table 11. Tax rates on income obtained by non-residents
Revenue

Tax rate

Taxable revenues obtained in Romania, as listed above, other than those below

16%

Dividend income from a resident

5%

Revenues obtained from gambling in money and/or in kind given to participants by any
Romanian legal person authorised to organise and exploit gambling

1%

Exception:
Revenues obtained by natural persons as a result of participation in remote gambling and
poker festivals is not taxable at source.
Income paid in a State with which Romania did not conclude a legal instrument under which
the exchange of information is conducted, when these are paid as a result of transactions that
are deemed as artificial

50%
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For the dividends distributed to non-residents, the applicable tax rates are those according to the table below:
Table 12. Tax rates of dividends distributed to non-residents
Shareholder/associate
Non-resident legal person

Dividend tax rate
y 5%
y the more favourable rate of the double tax avoidance convention
y 0% (revenue exempted)

Non-resident natural person

y 5%
y the more favourable rate from the double tax avoidance convention

6.5. TAX ON DIVIDENDS
Income in the form of dividends, including the gains obtained as a result of holding of equity as defined by the legislation
on collective investment undertakings, is taxed with a rate of 5% of their amount, the tax being final. The obligation to
calculate and withhold the tax on revenues in the form of dividends is assigned to the legal persons, with the payment of
dividends/amounts representing the gain obtained from the holding of equity by shareholders/associates/investors. The
deadline for payment of the tax is up and including the 25th of the month following than in which the payment is made.
The tax due shall be paid in full to the State budget.

6.6. VALUE ADDED TAX
The Romanian legislation on value added tax is aligned with the relevant European regulations, namely the Council
Directive 2006/112/EC of 28 November 2006 on the common system of value added tax.
The transactions falling within the scope of VAT are:
y supply of goods;
y provision of services;
y exchange of goods or services;
y intra-Community acquisition of goods;
y importation of goods.

þ

VAT rates

The standard VAT rate is 19% and applies to the tax base. The taxable amount of value added tax on supply of goods and
provision of services consists of all consideration obtained or to be obtained by the supplier or contractor from the buyer,
beneficiary or third party.
In Romania, there is a reduced rate of 9% applicable to supply of services and/or delivery of goods such as:
y delivery of prostheses and related accessories;
y delivery of orthopaedic products;
y delivery of medicinal products for human and veterinary use;
y supply of the following goods: food, including beverages, except for alcoholic beverages, intended for human and
animal consumption, live animals and birds of domestic species, seeds, plants and ingredients used in food preparation,
products used to complement or replace food;
y delivery of irrigation water for agriculture;
y supply of fertilisers and pesticides used in agriculture, seeds and other agricultural produce intended for seeding and
planting, as well as services of a specific kind used in the agricultural sector, etc.

DOING BUSINESS IN ROMANIA

According to Art. 291 para. (3) of the Fiscal Code, the reduced rate of 5% applies to the taxable amount for the following
supplies of goods and services:

49

y accommodation in the hotel sector or similar sectors, including the rental of camping grounds;
y restaurant and catering services, excluding alcoholic beverages;
y school textbooks, books, newspapers and magazines, excepting those exclusively or mainly intended for publicity;
y services consisting of access to castles, museums, memorial houses, historical monuments, architectural and
archaeological monuments, botanical gardens and zoos, fairs, exhibitions and cultural events, sporting events,
cinemas, other than those exempted;
y delivery of houses as part of the social policy, including the land they are built on etc.

þ

Registration obligations

Economic operators are required to register for VAT purposes if they perform or intend to perform an economic activity
that implies taxable operations and are to achieve an annual turnover that reaches or exceeds the exemption threshold of
EUR 88,500 (RON 300,000). If the annual turnover is lower than this threshold, the economic agent it is not required to
register for VAT purposes.
Taxable persons which have the office for economic activity in Romania and are not registered as VAT payers have to
register for VAT purposes:
y before conducting an intra-Community acquisition of goods, if the value of that intra-Community acquisition
exceeds the threshold for intra-Community acquisitions in the calendar year in which the intra-Community takes place
(EUR 10,000);
y before the supply of a service that takes place in another EU Member State, for which the recipient of the service is the
person liable for the payment of the value added tax in that Member State;
y before receiving services from a supplier, a taxable person resident in another EU Member State, for which he is liable
to pay value added tax in Romania.
The tax authority may cancel, on its own motion, the registration for VAT purposes of a person if:
y the person has been declared inactive for tax purposes;
y the associates/managers of the taxable person or the taxable person himself have economic offences and/or actions
registered in the tax criminal record;
y no VAT return has been submitted during a calendar semester;
y the tax returns submitted for six consecutive months/two consecutive fiscal periods during a calendar semester did
not show purchases of goods/services or supplies of goods/services made during these reporting periods;
y the taxable person carries a fiscal risk.

þ

Tax period

A company registered for VAT is required to declare and, where applicable, pay added value tax at the end of the tax
period. As a general rule, the tax period is the calendar month. However, there are exceptions to the rule, so that the tax
period is the calendar quarter for the taxable person that in the previous calendar year obtained a turnover that did not
exceed the threshold of EUR 100,000 (RON equivalent).

þ

Specific documents and statements. Payment obligations

According to legislation, the taxable economic operator must issue an invoice for each beneficiary in the following
situations:
y for supplies of goods or services;
y for each remote sale performed;
y for any advance received in relation to one of the operations mentioned above;
y for intra-Community supplies of goods.
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Paper or electronic documents or messages are regarded as invoices. In certain situations, such as taxable supplies of
goods or self-services, a self-invoicing must be issued only for tax purposes.
According to the Romanian legislation, economic operators registered for VAT purposes have to submit to the tax
authorities, for each tax period, up to and including the 25th of the month following the end of the relevant tax period, a
statement of VAT payment obligations. Payment must also be made by this deadline.

6.7. OTHER REGULATIONS WITH FISCAL IMPACT
þ Excise duties
Excise duties are special levies directly or indirectly on the consumption of certain products, being revenues owed to
the State budget. The Romanian legislation on excise duties is aligned with the relevant European regulations, namely
Council Directive 2008/118/EC of 16 December 2008 regarding the general arrangements for excise duty and repealing
Directive 92/12/EEC.
All products of the following categories are subject to excise duty:
y alcohol and alcoholic beverages (beer, wines, fermented beverages, other than beer and wines, intermediate products,
ethyl alcohol);
y manufactured tobacco (cigarettes, cigars and cheroots, smoking tobacco);
y energy products and electricity (leaded petrol, unleaded petrol, diesel, kerosene petrol, gas oil, jet fuel, fuel oil, liquefied
petroleum gas, natural gas, coal, coke, electricity).
Excise duty products are subject to excise duty arrangement at the moment of production, extraction or importation of
excise duty products on European Union`s territory.
The production of excise duty products represents any operation through which these are manufactured or processed,
in a tax warehouse, by an authorised warehouse keeper. The authorised warehouse keeper is the natural or legal person
authorised by the competent authority to produce, process, hold, receive or dispatch excise duty products under a
duty suspension arrangement at an authorised place, called tax warehouse. A tax warehouse may only be used for the
production and/or storage of excise duty products, and it cannot be used for retail selling of those products.
The deadline for payment of excise duties is:
y the 25th of the month following that in which the excise duties become due;
y the day after the reception of the excise duty products, for the registered recipients;
y the time of registration of the custom import declaration, for import of excise duty products that are not placed under
suspension arrangements, etc.
ü

Submission of declarations

Any excise duty payer, except the authorised importer, shall submit a declaration of excise duty to the competent authority
on a monthly basis, irrespective of whether or not the payment of the excise duty is due for that month.

þ Local taxes and levies
According to the Romanian Fiscal Code, local taxes and levies are as follows:
y property tax and property levy;
y land tax and land levy;
y tax on means of transport;
y levy for the issuance of certificates, notices and authorisations;
y levy for usage of advertising and publicity means;
y entertainment tax;
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y special levies;
y other local taxes.
Below, we briefly present some specific features of the most common type of local taxes.

þ Property tax and property levy
In order to determine the non-domestic property tax, their final purpose (residential, non-residential) is taken into account,
including when they are used by other individuals than their owners, and the manner in which utilities are recorded.

þ Land tax and land levy
For determining the land tax/levy, the area of the land, the rank of the locality in which it is located, the region and the
category of use of the land (within the built-up area registered in the farm register as land use category with construction/
other category of land with constructions, outside the build-up area), according to the classification made by the local
council.

þ Tax on means of transport
The tax on means of transport is calculated by reference to their type. For the vehicles with a mass less than 12 tons, the
tax on the means of transport is calculated by reference to its cylinder capacity, by multiplying each group of 200 cm3 or a
fraction of it by a unit tax. The tax proportionally increases with the cylinder capacity, noting that buses, coaches, minibuses
fall into a separate category.
The payment of these fiscal obligations is made annually, in two equal instalments, until March 31st and September 30th,
inclusive.

6.8. SUMMARY OF TAXES
Table 13. Summary of taxes
Company taxation
Standard corporate tax rate (profit tax)

16%

Taxation of companies with income < EUR 1,000,000

1%, 3% of revenues

Taxation of clubs or casinos

Maximum from 16% of profit and 5% of
revenues

Taxation of gambling

16% of profit + 2% of the total
participation fees received (3% for video
lottery)

Taxation of credit institutions

16% of profit + at least 0.1% of the
financial assets

Taxation of representative offices

RON 18,000 (approximately EUR 3,600)
Taxation of individuals

Standard tax rate

10%

Social Security Contribution (CAS)

25%

Social Health Insurance Contribution (CASS)

10%

Employment insurance contribution (CAM)

2.25%
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Taxation of individuals
Tax rate for real estate transactions

y 0% if the value of the property <
RON 450,000(approximately
EUR 91,000)
y 3% if the value of the property >
RON 450,000 (approximately
EUR 91,000)
Taxation of non-residents

Standard tax rate

16%

Standard rate for dividends received by a non-resident

5%

(Double taxation conventions should be taken into account)
Standard rate for interests received by a non-resident

16%

(Double taxation conventions should be taken into account)
Standard rate for royalties received by a non-resident

16%

(Double taxation conventions should be taken into account)
Value added tax
Standard rate

19%

Reduced rates

9%, 5%
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